

Prepared in cooperation with the National Park Service

Detection of Microcystin and Other Cyanotoxins in Lakes at Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore, Northern Michigan, 2012–13



Scientific Investigations Report 2017–5122

U.S. Department of the Interior U.S. Geological Survey

Cover photographs. Cyanobacterial bloom on Lake Richie, Isle Royale National Park. Upper left (2010) by Rick Damstra, National Park Service. Upper right and lower (2007) by Mark Edlund, St. Croix Watershed Research Station.

Detection of Microcystin and Other Cyanotoxins in Lakes at Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore, Northern Michigan, 2012–13

By Lori M. Fuller, Angela K. Brennan, Lisa R. Fogarty, Keith A. Loftin, Heather E. Johnson, David D. VanderMeulen, and Brenda Moraska Lafrancois

Prepared in cooperation with the National Park Service

Scientific Investigations Report 2017–5122

U.S. Department of the Interior U.S. Geological Survey

U.S. Department of the Interior

RYAN K. ZINKE, Secretary

U.S. Geological Survey

William H. Werkheiser, Deputy Director exercising the authority of the Director

U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, Virginia: 2017

For more information on the USGS—the Federal source for science about the Earth, its natural and living resources, natural hazards, and the environment—visit https://www.usgs.gov or call 1–888–ASK–USGS.

For an overview of USGS information products, including maps, imagery, and publications, visit https://store.usgs.gov.

Any use of trade, firm, or product names is for descriptive purposes only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Government.

Although this information product, for the most part, is in the public domain, it also may contain copyrighted materials as noted in the text. Permission to reproduce copyrighted items must be secured from the copyright owner.

Suggested citation:

Fuller, L.M., Brennan, A.K., Fogarty, L.R., Loftin, K.A., Johnson, H.E., VanderMeulen, D.D., and Lafrancois, B.M., 2017, Detection of microcystin and other cyanotoxins in lakes at Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore, northern Michigan, 2012–13: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2017–5122, 44 p., https://dx.doi.org/10.3133/sir20175122.

ISSN 2328-0328 (online)

Contents

Acknowledgments	vi
Abstract	1
Introduction	2
Purpose and Scope	4
Study Area Description	4
Previous Studies	4
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency National Lakes Assessment (2007)	4
U.S. Geological Survey Analysis of Inland Lakes in Michigan (Microcystin)	9
Isle Royale National Park (ISRO) Algal Blooms	9
Methods	11
Site Selection	11
Field Methods	11
Cyanotoxin Analysis	13
Water-Quality Sample Analysis	13
Quality Control Methods	14
Field Quality Control	14
Laboratory Quality Control	14
Cyanotoxin Results Using the Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay Method	14
Summary of Microcystin Results by National Park and National Lakeshore	14
Isle Royale National Park (ISRO)	22
Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore (PIRO)	25
Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore (SLBE)	26
Within-Lake Microcystin Variability	29
Isle Royale National Park (ISRO)	29
Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore (PIRO)	29
Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore (SLBE)	29
Cyanotoxin Results Using the Liquid Chromatography/Tandem Mass Spectrometry Method	33
Quality Control Results	33
Nutrients and Chlorophyll a at National Park Service Lakes	38
Potential Future Studies	38
Summary and Conclusions	42
References Cited	42

Figures

1.	Site map showing national park boundaries sampled during 2012-13	3
2.	Map showing Isle Royale National Park study sites	5
3.	Map showing Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore study sites	6
4.	Map showing Sleeping Bear Dunes National Shoreline study sites	7
5.	Map showing results of 2008 U.S. Geological Survey microcystin analysis of inland lakes in Michigan	10
6.	Map showing enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay microcystin results for lakes at Isle Royale National Park, 2012–13	18
7.	Map showing enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay microcystin results for lakes at Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, 2012–13	19
8.	Map showing enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay microcystin results for lakes at Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore, 2012–13	20
9.	Graphs showing enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay microcystin results for 2012 and 2013 at Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore	21
10.	Graphs showing temporal and spatial variability of microcystin concentrations for Isle Royale National Park	30
11.	Graphs showing temporal variability of microcystin concentrations for Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore	31
12.	Graphs showing temporal and spatial variability of microcystin concentrations for Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore	32
13.	Graph showing comparison of total microcystin (by summation of liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry [LC/MS/MS] congeners [y]) to enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) microcystin (x) results at Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore	37
14.	Graph showing nutrient, chlorophyll <i>a</i> , and Secchi disc indicator (x) comparison to percent microcystin detections (y) for 2012 and 2013 lake data at Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore	40
15.	Graph showing total nitrogen to total phosphorus ratios (y) versus microcystin concentrations (ELISA) (x) by lake at Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes	
	National Lakeshore	41

Tables

1.	Land cover at Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore	8
2.	Location of lake sampling sites in Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore, 2012–13	12
3.	Algal toxins analyzed at Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore, 2012–13	13
4.	Number of lake water samples analyzed for each algal toxin assay (by year and location) at Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakesbara, and Slooping Roar Dunce National Lakesbara, 2012, 12	15
	National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Dear Dunes National Lakeshore, 2012–13	13

Tables—Continued

5.	Summary of enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay microcystin results at Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore, 2012–13
6.	Summary statistics of enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay microcystin results in 2012 and 2013 at Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore
7.	Microcystin results for samples collected at Isle Royale National Park, 2012–1322
8.	Microcystin results for samples collected at Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, 2012–1325
9.	Microcystin results for samples collected at Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore, 2012–13
10.	Results of the liquid chromatography/tandom mass spectrometry analysis for Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore, 2012–13
11.	Mean and standard deviations of lake water-quality data collected at Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore, 2012–13

Conversion Factors

International System of Units to U.S. customary units

Multiply	Ву	To obtain
	Length	
meter (m)	3.281	foot (ft)
meter (m)	1.094	yard (yd)

Temperature in degrees Celsius (°C) may be converted to degrees Fahrenheit (°F) as follows:

```
^{\circ}F = (1.8 \times ^{\circ}C) + 32.
```

Datum

Horizontal coordinate information is referenced to the North American Datum of 1983 (NAD 83).

Altitude, as used in this report, refers to distance above the vertical datum.

Supplemental Information

Concentrations of chemical constituents in water are given in either milligrams per liter (mg/L) or micrograms per liter (μ g/L).

Abbreviations

ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
ISRO	Isle Royale National Park
LC/MS/MS	liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry
MRL	minimum reporting level
NPS	National Park Service
ORGL	Organic Geochemistry Research Laboratory
PIRO	Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore
SLBE	Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore
TN	total nitrogen
TN:TP	total nitrogen to total phosphorus ratio
TP	total phosphorus
EPA	U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
USGS	U.S. Geological Survey
WHO	World Health Organization

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the researchers at Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore for their time and commitment in collecting the best data possible.

Detection of Microcystin and Other Cyanotoxins in Lakes at Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes Lakeshore, Northern Michigan, 2012–13

By Lori M. Fuller, Angela K. Brennan, Lisa R. Fogarty, Keith A. Loftin, Heather E. Johnson, David D. VanderMeulen¹, and Brenda Moraska Lafrancois¹

Abstract

Although cyanotoxins released during algal blooms have become an increasing concern in surface waters across the United States, the presence of cyanotoxins in northern Michigan lakes had not been evaluated in detail. The U.S. Geological Survey and National Park Service (NPS) led a 2-year study (2012 and 2013) to determine the presence of microcystin and other algal toxins in several inland lakes at Isle Royale National Park (hereafter referred to as ISRO, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore (hereafter referred to as PIRO), and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore (hereafter referred to as SLBE). Samples also were collected at four sites in Lake Michigan within the SLBE. The two analytical techniques used in the study were enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA) for microcystin, cylindrospermopsin, and saxitoxin; and liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry (LC/MS/MS) for a larger suite of algal toxins. Neither cylindrospermopsin nor saxitoxin were detected in the 211 samples. Microcystin was detected in 31 percent of samples (65 of 211 samples) analyzed by the ELISA method, but no sample results exceeded the World Health Organization recreational health advisory standard for microcystin (10 micrograms per liter $[\mu g/L]$). However, about 10 percent of the samples (21 of 211 samples) that were collected from PIRO and SLBE and were analyzed by ELISA for microcystin had concentrations greater than the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) drinking water 10-day health advisory of 0.3 µg/L for children preschool age and younger (less than 6-years old). One sample collected in 2012 from SLBE exceeded the EPA drinking water 10-day health advisory of $1.6 \,\mu\text{g/L}$ for school-age children through adults (6-years old and older). In 2012, the highest concentration of 2.7 µg/L was detected in Florence Lake within SLBE. Many visitors enjoy

recreation in or on the water and camp in the backcountry at these national parks where the most common source of drinking water is filtered surface water.

Approximately 18 percent of the samples (39 of 211 samples) were analyzed by LC/MS/MS to confirm the ELISA results and to evaluate the samples for a larger suite of algal toxins. In general, the microcystin results between the ELISA and LC/MS/MS methods were similar; although, the ELISA results tended to be slightly higher than the summation of LC/MS/MS microcystin congeners. The slightly higher ELISA results might be because the ELISA microcystin method is reactive with the ADDA functional group common to all microcystins, and because not all microcystin congeners are included in the LC/MS/MS method. The LC/MS/MS method indicated that the congener microcystin-LR was the most frequently detected, followed by microcystin-WR and microcystin-YR.

Sixteen of the lakes included in this study also were monitored by the NPS for nutrients. Total phosphorus (TP) concentrations were, on average, highest at the ISRO lakes, whereas total nitrogen (TN) concentrations were highest at SLBE. The average annual TN:TP ratios for the 16 lakes within the national park and national lakeshores ranged from ratios of 20 to 89. Overall, results indicated a slight increase in percentage of microcystin detections with an increase in the TN:TP ratio (R-squared 0.269 and 0.340, respectively [2012 and 2013 combined dataset] derived from linear regression).

This study also indicated that even in the absence of visible algal blooms, microcystin may be present. Most microcystin concentrations did not exceed the EPA's 10-day health advisory drinking-water benchmark. In general, these results provide a useful baseline with which to evaluate potential future changes in algal toxin concentrations.

Introduction

The presence of cyanotoxins in surface water is an emerging lacustrine water-quality issue, not only in northern Michigan but also throughout the United States (fig. 1) (Loftin and others, 2017). Cyanotoxins are toxins produced by cyanobacteria (also commonly referred to as blue-green algae), which are naturally occurring organisms. At high concentrations, cyanotoxins can cause illness or even death in humans, domestic animals, and wildlife, as well as aquatic plants and animals. Combined, the Isle Royale National Park (hereafter referred to as ISRO), Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore (hereafter referred to as PIRO), and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore (hereafter referred to as SLBE) (fig. 1) serve more than 2.4 million visitors annually (National Park Service, 2016). Many of the visitors enjoy recreation in or on the water and camp in the backcountry where the most common source of drinking water is filtered surface water, mainly from lakes (personal communication with National Park Service, 2014). There are several benchmarks with which to compare algal toxin concentrations, ranging from most protective (for drinking water) to lesser protective (for recreational water usage). Thus, identifying whether or not cyanotoxins are present in ISRO, PIRO, and SLBE lakes at concentrations that could pose a threat to visitor health by means of contact recreation (swimming, fishing, and boating) or drinking water is important.

Most reported cases of elevated microcystin concentrations were detected in locations with visible algal blooms, in part because cyanotoxins are not routinely monitored and samples are typically collected once a bloom occurs (Graham and others, 2009). The relation of cyanobacteria abundance to toxin occurrence is influenced by environmental conditions (lake hydrology, geomorphology, water chemistry, and physical water characteristics), biological processes (cellular toxin production, and cell proliferation and lysis), and biological community structure (Glibert and others, 2005).

The most commonly detected cyanotoxins in the United States are microcystins (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2015a), which at high enough concentrations can cause acute or chronic toxicity in plants, wildlife, and humans (Chorus and Bartram, 1999). Microcystins are hepatotoxins capable of causing a range of symptoms that include acute and chronic liver ailments in wildlife and humans. Hepatotoxins can be produced by several cyanobacterial genera including Microcystis sp., Oscillatoria sp., and Anabaena sp. when their densities intensify (Sivonen, 1996; Yoo and others, 1995). These hepatotoxins act as inhibitors of protein phosphatases and are potential tumor promoters (Sivonen, 1996). Toxic effects of microcystins on zooplankton (Daphnia sp.) through ingestion of the algal cells were noted in Lampert (1981) and Nizan and others (1986). The cascading effects of trophic disruption in freshwater environments during severe cyanobacterial blooms was highlighted in Lampert (1981) and Nizan and others (1986). As reported by the U.S. Environmental



Cyanobacterial bloom on Lake Richie, Isle Royale National Park, 2010. Photographs by Rick Damstra, National Park Service

Protection Agency (EPA), several other algal toxins commonly detected in freshwaters of the United States that also pose a threat to human and animal health include cylindrospermopsin, anatoxins, and saxitoxins (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2015a).

Currently (2017), neither the United States nor State of Michigan have issued cyanotoxin guidelines for recreational waters. The World Health Organization (WHO) has a series of recommended guidelines for freshwater recreational exposure, the most protective being microcystin-LR concentrations less than 10 micrograms per liter (μ g/L), for a low probability of acute effects (World Health Organization, 2003b). The EPA recently (2015) developed a 10-day health advisory in drinking water for concentrations of microcystins (0.3 μ g/L) and cylindrospermopsins (0.7 μ g/L) for children preschool age and younger (less than 6-years old). For school-age children through adults (6-years old and older), the health advisory concentrations of microcystins and cylindrospermopsins are higher at 1.6 μ g/L and 3.0 μ g/L, respectively (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2015b).



4 Detection of Microcystin and Other Cyanotoxins in Lakes, Northern Michigan, 2012–13

Cyanobacteria often are most abundant in midsummer to early fall, but cyanobacterial harmful algal blooms can occur any time of year (Chorus and Bartram, 1999; Drake and others, 2010). Understanding the controlling factors for cyanobacteria growth, accumulation, and toxin production is critical for managing and preventing algal toxicity issues. Cyanobacteria growth and accumulation is influenced by a diverse range of physical, chemical, and biological factors (Chorus and Bartram, 1999). Nutrient input, solar irradiance, hydrology, and climate may all substantially influence the proliferation of cyanobacteria. The amount of nitrogen and phosphorus in the water is particularly important because these nutrients are necessary for cyanobacterial growth.

Numerous studies discuss the role of nutrient concentrations and ratios in production of algal blooms and toxins (for example, Orihel and others, 2012; Scott and others, 2013; Downing and others, 2001). Orihel and others (2012) reported that high microcystin concentrations were detected only at low total nitrogen (TN) to total phosphorus (TP) ratios (TN:TP) in a study of Canadian lakes from 2001 to 2011. To further understand this concept, large scale mesocosm experiments were led by Harris and others (2014a; 2014b). The experiments were completed in an Oregon reservoir where TN:TP ratios were manipulated by adding ammonium nitrate and aluminum sulfate, where the manipulation of the TN:TP greater than 50 (by mass) shifted the dominant primary producers from cyanobacteria to the more ecologically desirable chlorophytes and cryptophytes. As a consequence of decreased cyanobacteria occurrence, the frequency at which microcystin was detected declined as well.

For this 2-year study, the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS), in partnership with the National Park Service (NPS), monitored surface waters at 17 inland lakes and 4 Great Lake sites across 1 national park and 2 national lakeshores in northern Michigan to (1) assess the presence and concentrations of common algal toxins irrespective of whether or not visible algal blooms were present, (2) to relate the toxins to known EPA and WHO benchmarks for recreation and drinking water, and (3) to explore the possible relation between nutrient conditions and the presence and concentrations of algal toxins.

Purpose and Scope

The purpose of this report is to describe the detection of microcystin and other algal toxins in several inland lakes in ISRO, PIRO, and SLBE. The objectives of this report are to (1) highlight previous studies that have evaluated cyanotoxins within the study area, (2) describe detections of cyanotoxins in lake samples by use of enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA) (Abraxis, LLC) and liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry (LC/MS/MS) methods, (3) compare ELISA

microcystin results to the WHO recreational guideline for acute health effects (less than 10 μ g/L; World Health Organization, 2003a) and to the EPA drinking-water recommendations (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2015b) to provide a context for potential human-health risk, (4) evaluate results to determine if microcystin concentrations differed by lake and if concentrations differed seasonally, and (5) relate cyanotoxin results to nutrient ratios within each lake.

Study Area Description

Northern Michigan is home to one national park and two national lakeshores with significant surface-water resources— ISRO and PIRO on Lake Superior and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore (SLBE) on Lake Michigan (fig. 1) each containing many inland lakes greater than 1 hectare (77, 24, and 24 lakes, respectively) (Elias and others, 2015).

The national park (ISRO) and two national lakeshores (PIRO and SLBE) that were sampled as part of this study are in northern Michigan; ISRO and PIRO are in the upper peninsula, and SLBE is in the northern lower peninsula of Michigan (fig. 1). Forests and wetlands are the predominant land cover for all three study areas (National Park Service, 2016; figs. 2–4, table 1). The SLBE is less than 1 percent agriculture but has about 4 percent urban land cover (National Park Service, 2016; table 1).

Previous Studies

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency National Lakes Assessment (2007)

In 2007, the EPA led a National Lakes Assessment on approximately 1,000 inland lakes throughout the United States. Microcystin was detected in 30 percent of the lakes sampled nationwide and in 23 percent of the lakes sampled in the Upper Midwest (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2009). The EPA noted that these samples were collected in the middle of the lake, in open water, as opposed to the nearshore areas where concentrations of microcystins are typically higher (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2009; Beaver and others, 2014; Lindon and Heiskary, 2009). Results from this 2007 lakes assessment also indicated that cylindrospermopsins and saxitoxins were detected in 4 and 7.7 percent of samples, respectively, but co-occurrence of cylindrospermopsins, microcystins, and saxitoxins was rare (0.3 percent) (Loftin and others, 2016). The method for microcystin analysis was based on the use of an immunoassay kit manufactured by Abraxis.





Figure 2. Isle Royale National Park study sites.

6 Detection of Microcystin and Other Cyanotoxins in Lakes, Northern Michigan, 2012–13



Figure 3. Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore study sites.



Figure 4. Sleeping Bear Dunes National Shoreline study sites.

Table 1. Land cover at Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore.

[National land cover percentage by national park, national lakeshore, and National Park Service lakeshed, from National Park Service, 2006; NPS, National Park Service; NHDPlus, National Hydrography Dataset Plus (McKay and others, 2014); —, no data; data presented in bold represent total land cover percentage by park]

Location	Catchment	Decid- uous forest	Mixed forest	Wet- lands	Ever- green forest	Shrub/ herba- ceous	Barren	Urban	Agricul- ture
Isle Royale National Park		33	28	22	15	2	1	0	0
Lake Ahmik	NPS lakeshed	11	27	34	25	3	0	0	0
Lake Harvey	NPS lakeshed	18	46	18	18	0	0	0	0
LeSage Lake	NPS lakeshed	27	38	14	14	7	0	0	0
Lake Richie	NPS lakeshed	13	44	12	29	2	0	0	0
Sargent Lake	NPS lakeshed	31	41	10	16	1	0	0	0
Chickenbone Lake	No lakeshed or NHDPlus catchment available	_	—	—			—	_	
Lake Desor	No lakeshed or NHDPlus catchment available	_	—	_		—	—	_	
Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore		64	3	15	11	3	2	1	0
Beaver Lake	NHDPlus catchment	41	6	18	33	0	1	1	0
Grand Sable Lake	NHDPlus catchment	75	1	9	4	3	5	2	1
Miners Lake	NHDPlus catchment	75	5	12	7	1	0	1	0
Trappers Lake	NHDPlus catchment	39	6	19	33	0	1	1	0
Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore		59	4	9	4	9	10	4	1
Bass Lake	NPS lakeshed	50	3	5	1	16	11	14	0
Florence Lake	NPS lakeshed	92	1	1	0	2	2	3	0
Loon Lake	NPS lakeshed	35	3	36	6	8	0	13	0
Lake Manitou	NPS lakeshed	95	0	4	0	1	0	0	0
North Bar Lake	NPS lakeshed	61	5	8	3	16	2	6	0
Shell Lake	NPS lakeshed	55	3	21	1	6	8	6	0
Lake Michigan County Road 669	No lakeshed or NHDPlus catchment available		—		—		—	—	—
Lake Michigan Esch Road	No lakeshed or NHDPlus catchment available		—		_	—	—	_	—
Lake Michigan Glen Haven No lakeshed or NHDPlus catchment available			—	—		—	—	—	—
Lake Michigan Platte Point	ake Michigan Platte Point No lakeshed or NHDPlus catchment available		_				_		

U.S. Geological Survey Analysis of Inland Lakes in Michigan (Microcystin)

In August 2008, the USGS collected samples at 41 inland lakes in Michigan following similar protocols used in the 2007 EPA National Lakes Assessment, including collection of samples in deep, open waters of inland lakes (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2009). Lake samples were analyzed for microcystin concentrations by immunoassay, and approximately 54 percent of the samples (22 out of 41 samples) collected had detectable (greater than or equal to $0.10 \,\mu\text{g/L}$) concentrations of microcystin, ranging from 0.12 to 0.69 µg/L (U.S. Geological Survey, 2017) (fig. 5). When detected, many of the higher microcystin concentrations were in inland lakes in northwest lower Michigan (near SLBE) and in open waters without visible blooms present.

Isle Royale National Park (ISRO) Algal Blooms

In August 2007, an algal bloom was observed throughout the waters of remote Lake Richie at ISRO (M. Edlund, oral commun., 2016; fig. 2). Samples were collected and the algae were identified as Lyngbya birgei (Cyanophyta) (M. Edlund, oral commun., 2016), which can produce microcystins as well as saxitoxin (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, 2017). Another bloom was detected in Lake Richie in 2010, in which Lyngbya birgei and two other cyanobacteria, Anabaena flos-aquae and Anabaena planctonica, were present (M. Edlund, oral commun., 2016). Anabaena flos-aquae can produce microcystin and anatoxin-a, whereas Anabaena planctonica can produce anatoxin-a (Bruno and others, 1994; MERHAB-LGL, 2017). Algal blooms caused by unidentified algal species were also detected in Sargent Lake at ISRO in 2009 (fig. 2) and Whittlesey (not shown) and Chickenbone Lakes (fig. 2) in 2010 (Rick Damstra, oral commun., 2016).





Cyanobacterial bloom on Lake Richie, Isle Royale National Park, 2007. Photographs by Mark Edlund, St. Croix Watershed Research Station.





Cyanobacterial bloom on Sargent Lake, Isle Royale National Park, 2009. Photograph by Rick Damstra, National Park Service.

Methods

Site Selection

A total of 17 inland lakes were selected for monitoring for this study. Fifteen of these 17 lakes are included within a larger long-term monitoring effort (since the middle of the 2000s) by the NPS Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network that annually assesses lake water quality during the summer (Elias and others, 2015). Of the 17 lakes, 7 lakes were at ISRO, 4 lakes at PIRO, and 6 lakes were monitored at SLBE. In addition, four nearshore Lake Michigan beach sites at SLBE (table 2) were sampled as part of this study because of the high recreational usage at these beaches. LeSage Lake was eliminated and replaced with Lake Ahmik (fig. 2) in 2013 because of sampling difficulties at ISRO in 2012.

Field Methods

For most sites, three environmental samples were collected from each lake in nearshore waters on the same day as routine NPS monitoring. These samples were assessed for potential toxins using standard USGS methods (Graham and others, 2008a; 2008b). In addition, multiple lake samples were collected at nine lakes in different locations each year to assess within-lake spatial variability (table 2).

For each lake and Lake Michigan nearshore sites, the primary sampling location for toxin analysis was determined by where each received the most recreational traffic, representing an area of potentially higher risk of exposure to visitors by algal toxins, if present. Monitoring sites were accessed by various methods depending on the location, including by canoe, kayak, boat, and wading. Grab samples were collected in waist deep water near the shoreline from 0.5 to 1.0 meters below the water surface where people would be most likely to enjoy recreation or obtain water for drinking.

Sample bottles were rinsed three times with native lake water from the immediate sampling area. Using the rinsed bottle with the cap in place, the bottle was lowered to the appropriate depth, and the cap was removed to collect the sample at that depth. In order to assess spatial variability at the primary monitoring location, three samples were collected parallel to the shoreline; one at the center location and two at locations approximately 10 meters to the right and to the left of center. In 2012, additional sampling locations were added at Lake Richie at ISRO on two occasions and once at Lake Desor (fig. 2) to capture visible algal blooms in a specific area of the lake.

Sampling teams frequently recorded whether blooms were visibly present or not present. All samples intended for toxin analysis were stored at -20 degrees Celsius and shipped on ice to the USGS Organic Geochemistry Research Laboratory (OGRL) in Lawrence, Kansas, for analysis.

Also as part of this study, basic water-quality samples were collected by NPS aquatic specialists at ISRO, PIRO, and SLBE during scheduled routine water-quality monitoring visits, generally from June through September in 2012 and 2013. A complete description of the field methods, including typical parameters monitored, can be found in Elias and others (2015). During routine NPS water-quality monitoring, water samples were collected from offshore surface waters at the deepest area of the lake and were analyzed for total TP, TN, and chlorophyll *a* by the St. Croix Watershed Research Station in Marine on St. Croix, Minnesota. A TN:TP ratio was calculated for each sampling event, and sampling events were then averaged to determine the annual TN:TP ratio for that particular location.

12 Detection of Microcystin and Other Cyanotoxins in Lakes, Northern Michigan, 2012–13

Table 2. Location of lake sampling sites in Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore, 2012–13.

[USGS, U.S. Geological Survey; NPS, National Park Service; NAD 83, horizontal coordinate information referenced to North American Datum of 1983; E, east; CB, Chickenbone; ISRO, Isle Royale National Park; MI, Michigan; °, degrees; ', minutes; ", seconds; S, south; NE, northeast; NW, northwest; Tr, Trail; SC, south-central; PIRO, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore; SW, southwest; SBDNL, Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore; SLBE, Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore; SE, southeast; LeSage Lake is referred to as "Lake LeSage" and Lake Manitou is referred to as "Manitou Lake"]

USGS site name	NPS park unit	USGS site number	Latitude (NAD 83)	Longitude (NAD 83)
Chickenbone Lake near E CB Campground at ISRO, MI	ISRO	480350088433001	48°03'50"	-88°43'30"
Chickenbone Lake near Old Portage at Isle Royale, MI	ISRO	480429088431001	48°04'29"	-88°43'10"
Chickenbone Lake near W CB Campground at ISRO, MI	ISRO	480426088415401	48°04'26"	-88°41'54"
Lake Ahmik near Portage at Isle Royale, MI	ISRO	480856088322601	48°08'56"	-88°32'26"
Lake Ahmik near South Shore at Isle Royale, MI	ISRO	480856088322001	48°08'56"	-88°32'20"
Lake Ahmik near West End at Isle Royale, MI	ISRO	480841088323401	48°08'41"	-88°32'34"
Lake Desor near S Desor Campground at Isle Royale, MI	ISRO	475814088582001	47°58'14"	-88°58'20"
Lake Harvey near NE of Lake at Isle Royale, MI	ISRO	480308088471401	48°03'08"	-88°47'14"
Lake LeSage near NE end of Lake at Isle Royale, MI	ISRO	480338088415901	48°03'38"	-88°41'59"
Lake LeSage near NW Portage at Isle Royale, MI	ISRO	480318088430801	48°03'18"	-88°43'08"
Lake LeSage near South Portage at Isle Royale, MI	ISRO	480317088422601	48°03'17"	-88°42'26"
Lake Richie at Moskey Portage Isle Royale, MI	ISRO	48030888410001	48°03'08"	-88°41'00"
Lake Richie near Bedrock Beach at Isle Royale, MI	ISRO	480305088410601	48°03'05"	-88°41'06"
Lake Richie near Canoe Campground at Isle Royale, MI	ISRO	480237088415701	48°02'37"	-88°41'57"
Lake Richie near Indian Portage Tr at Isle Royale, MI	ISRO	480155088412101	48°01'55"	-88°41'21"
Sargent Lake near NE end of Lake at Isle Royale, MI	ISRO	480557088391001	48°05'57"	-88°39'10"
Sargent Lake near NW end of Lake at Isle Royale, MI	ISRO	480518088401401	48°05'18"	-88°40'14"
Sargent Lake near S Basin Portage at Isle Royale, MI	ISRO	480535088390901	48°05'35"	-88°39'09"
Beaver Lake near SC Shore at Pictured Rocks, MI	PIRO	463330086204001	46°33'30"	-86°20'40"
Grand Sable Lake near E Shore at Pictured Rocks, MI	PIRO	463835086015301	46°38'35"	-86°01'53"
Miners Lake near SW Shore at Pictured Rocks, MI	PIRO	462846086321301	46°28'46"	-86°32'13"
Trappers Lake near Campground at Pictured Rocks, MI	PIRO	463516086185201	46°35'16"	-86°18'52"
Bass Lake North near North Shore at SBDNL, MI	SLBE	445543085530801	44°55'43"	-85°53'08"
Bass Lake North near SE Boat Launch at SBDNL, MI	SLBE	445518085525301	44°55'18"	-85°52'53"
Bass Lake North near Glen Lake Benchmark at SBDNL, MI	SLBE	445518085525401	44°55'18"	-85°52'54"
Florence Lake near Boat Launch at SBDNL, MI	SLBE	450037086070801	45°00'37"	-86°07'08"
Lake Michigan near County Road 669 at SBDNL, MI	SLBE	445623085522101	44°56'23"	-85°52'21"
Lake Michigan near Esch Road at SBDNL, MI	SLBE	444546086043501	44°45'46"	-86°04'35"
Lake Michigan near Glen Haven at SBDNL, MI	SLBE	445418086013401	44°54'18"	-86°01'34"
Lake Michigan near Platte Point at SBDNL, MI	SLBE	444355086091101	44°43'55"	-86°09'11"
Loon Lake near Boat Launch at SBDNL, MI	SLBE	444232086073501	44°42'32"	-86°07'35"
Loon Lake near Cove at Sleeping Bear Dunes NL, MI	SLBE	444235086073701	44°42'35"	-86°07'37"
Loon Lake near Platte River Inlet at SBDNL, MI	SLBE	444235086074001	44°42'35"	-86°07'40"
Manitou Lake near Boat Launch at SBDNL, MI	SLBE	450714086011301	45°07'14"	-86°01'13"
Manitou Lake near Midpoint at SBDNL, MI	SLBE	450722086011201	45°07'22"	-86°01'12"
Manitou Lake near Point at Sleeping Bear Dunes NL, MI	SLBE	450729086011901	45°07'29"	-86°01'19"
North Bar Lake near Boat Launch at SBDNL, MI	SLBE	445037086035301	44°50'37"	-86°03'53"
North Bar Lake near North Shore at SBDNL, MI	SLBE	445039086035501	44°50'39"	-86°03'55"
North Bar Lake near Outlet at SBDNL, MI	SLBE	445034086035701	44°50'34"	-86°03'57"
Shell Lake near East Shore Boat Launch at SBDNL, MI	SLBE	445657085535501	44°56'57"	-85°53'55"

Cyanotoxin Analysis

Samples were analyzed for cyanotoxins using ELISA (Abraxis, LLC) ($0.10 \mu g/L$ detection limit for microcystin) and LC/MS/MS ($0.10 \mu g/L$ detection limit for microcystin) by the USGS OGRL. The ELISA techniques have commonly been used as a cost effective and quick screening approach for the determination of algal toxins in surface waters (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2009; Graham and Jones, 2009; Graham and others, 2006) with confirmation by LC/MS/MS. Samples were sequentially frozen/thawed three times to lyse cyanobacteria cells and release potential toxins. Lysed samples were filtered using a 0.7-micron glass-fiber filter and syringe. Filtrates from the field samples collected at left, center, and right for each location were composited volumetrically before analysis.

The ELISA microcystin results also were compared to the WHO recreational guideline for acute health effects (less than $10 \mu g/L$; World Health Organization, 2003a) and the EPA drinking-water recommendations (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2015b) to provide a context for potential human-health risk. Results also were evaluated to determine if microcystin concentrations differed by lake and if concentrations differed throughout the summer.

Select samples from ISRO and SLBE also were tested for saxitoxin and cylindrospermopsin using ELISA methods (Graham and others, 2010). In addition, 16 samples in 2012 and 23 samples in 2013 were selected for more detailed analysis using the LC/MS/MS method to determine concentrations for a larger suite of algal toxins (Loftin and others, 2008; Graham and others, 2010) (table 3). Sample selection was based on the presence and concentration of microcystin in the environmental sample.

Microcystin concentration data are stored in the USGS National Water Information System (https://dx.doi. org/10.5066/F7P55KJN).

Water-Quality Sample Analysis

Additional samples for nutrient (nitrogen and phosphorus constituents) and chlorophyll *a* analysis were collected from the center of the lake during each sampling event at 16 of the inland lakes. These samples were collected as part of the ongoing NPS lake monitoring, using sampling methods and laboratory methods as described in Elias and others (2015). The laboratories used by the NPS for analysis are state or federally certified for performing the water chemistry analyses in natural waters and are consistent with current EPA procedures (Elias and others, 2015). Data collected for nutrient and chlorophyll *a* analysis are stored in the EPA STORET database (http://www.epa.gov/waterdata/ storage-and-retrieval-and-water-quality-exchange). Table 3.Algal toxins analyzed at Isle Royale NationalPark, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, andSleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore, 2012–13.

[ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; LC/MS/MS, liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry]

Method	Algal toxin
ELISA	Microcystin
ELISA	Saxitoxin
ELISA	Cylindrospermopsin
LC/MS/MS	Microcystin-HtYR
LC/MS/MS	Microcystin-LA
LC/MS/MS	Microcystin-LR
LC/MS/MS	Microcystin-LW
LC/MS/MS	Microcystin-LY
LC/MS/MS	Microcystin-RR
LC/MS/MS	Microcystin-WR
LC/MS/MS	Microcystin-YR

Quality Control Methods

Field Quality Control

In 2012, six field blanks and six replicate samples were collected, whereas in 2013, five field blanks and five replicates were collected. Field blanks consisted of sterile deionized water (provided by USGS OGRL) that was used to fill sample bottles while wading in the water or in the boat after all other samples had been collected at the site.

In order to account for possible spatial variability in the distribution of cyanobacteria within the water column, sequential field replicates were collected following the same sampling protocol for environmental samples. Field replicate data were reported as relative percent difference (RPD) and were calculated for detections for individual sequential replicate pairs using equation 1.

$$RPD_{mean} = [sample \ l - sample \ 2) / Mean]*100, \tag{1}$$

where

RPD_{mean}	is the mean relative percent difference;
sample 1	is the concentration of sequential replicate 1,
	in micrograms per liter;
sample 2	is the concentration of sequential replicate 2,
	in micrograms per liter; and
Mean	is the mean of concentration of the two
	sequential replicates, in micrograms per
	liter

Laboratory Quality Control

Laboratory replicates (ELISA and LC/MS/MS) and spiked replicates (LC/MS/MS only) were measured on a subset of samples. For the laboratory replicates, six samples were collected for ELISA and three samples were collected for LC/MS/ MS. For the spiked replicates, two samples were collected for LC/MS/MS. Laboratory replicate data were reported as mean relative percent standard deviation (RPSD), and RPSD was calculated for detections using equation 2.

$$RPSD_{mean} = [SD_{mean}/Mean]*100,$$
(2)

where

$RPSD_{mean}$	is the mean relative percent standard deviation
SDmean	is the mean standard deviation of replicate
	sample concentrations, in micrograms per
	liter; and
Mean	is the grand mean of concentration of all
	replicate pairs for detected concentrations,
	in micrograms per liter.

Spiked replicates were amended with the equivalent of a $1.0 \ \mu g/L$ toxin standard mixture. Mean spiked sample recovery was calculated using equation 3.

Percent Spiked Recovery_{mean} =
$$\{1 + [(C_{measured} - C_{expected})/(3) C_{expected}]\} \times 100$$

where

 $C_{measured}$ $C_{expected}$ is the mean measured concentration, in micrograms per liter, of all toxins and is the mean expected concentration, in micrograms per liter, of all toxins.

Cyanotoxin Results Using the Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay Method

The ELISA method was used to test all samples (n = 211) in order to obtain a baseline assessment for the common freshwater cyanotoxins including microcystin, saxitoxin, and cylindrospermopsin (table 4). Cylindrospermopsin and saxitoxin were not detected by ELISA in any of the samples collected as part of this study.

Summary of Microcystin Results by National Park and National Lakeshore

The ELISA method was used to measure the concentration of microcystin (minimum reporting levels [MRL] of $0.10 \ \mu g/L$) from samples collected at 21 lake sites throughout 1 national park and 2 national lakeshores. Individual lake summary results are presented in table 5. The ELISA summary statistics by national park and national lakeshore for microcystin concentrations are presented in table 6 and figures 6–8 for each study area.

Microcystin was detected (concentrations above the MRL of 0.1 μ g/L) by the ELISA method in 31 percent of the samples (65 of 211 samples), with a higher percentage of samples indicating detectable microcystins in 2012 versus 2013 (35 percent and 26 percent, respectively). Maximum microcystin concentrations ranged from 0.88 µg/L (2013) to 2.7 µg/L (2012), but most samples (approximately 80 percent) were near or less than the MRL of 0.1 μ g/L. Microcystin was detected at least once at more than one-half of the sites (13 out of 21) during the study period (tables 5-6). Maximum microcystin concentrations were detected in lakes from SLBE that included Florence Lake (2.7 µg/L) in 2012 and Loon Lake (0.88 μ g/L) in 2013 (table 5, fig. 4). Using the ELISA method, SLBE also had the highest percentage (57 percent) of samples with detectable concentrations of microcystin in 2012 (table 6).

Table 4.Number of lake water samples analyzed for each algal toxin assay (by year and location) at Isle Royale National Park,Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore, 2012–13.

[ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; LC/MS/MS, liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry]

Location	Number of monitoring	Microcystin (ELISA)		Saxitoxin (ELISA)		Cylindrospermopsin (ELISA)		Suite of toxins (LC/MS/MS)	
	locations per lake	2012	2013	2012	2013	2012	2013	2012	2013
		ls	le Royale Na	ational Park	Ξ.				
Chickenbone Lake	3	9	9	4	3	4	3	0	2
Lake Desor	1	4	2	3	2	3	2	0	0
Lake Ahmik ¹	3	0	9	0	3	0	3	0	3
Lake Harvey	1	3	3	3	3	3	3	0	1
LeSage Lake ²	3	9	0	4	0	4	0	0	0
Lake Richie	4	12	9	3	3	3	3	0	5
Sargent Lake	3	8	9	4	3	5	3	0	0
		Picture	d Rocks Na	tional Lakes	shore				
Beaver Lake	1	3	3	0	0	0	0	0	0
Grand Sable Lake	1	3	3	0	0	0	0	0	0
Miners Lake	1	3	3	0	0	0	0	0	0
Trappers Lake	1	3	3	0	0	0	0	3	1
		Sleeping E	3ear Dunes	National La	keshore				
Bass Lake (North)	3	9	9	3	2	3	3	0	2
Florence Lake	1	3	3	3	2	3	3	2	1
Lake Michigan County Road 669	1	3	3	3	3	3	3	0	0
Lake Michigan Esch Road	1	3	3	3	3	3	3	0	0
Lake Michigan Glen Haven	1	3	3	3	3	3	3	0	0
Lake Michigan Platte Point	1	3	3	3	3	3	3	1	1
Loon Lake	3	9	6	3	2	3	2	3	4
Lake Manitou	3	9	8	3	3	3	3	3	1
North Bar Lake	3	9	6	4	2	3	2	3	1
Shell Lake	1	3	3	3	3	3	3	1	1

¹2013 only.

²2012 only.

Table 5. Summary of enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay microcystin results at Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore, 2012–13.

[USGS, U.S. Geological Survey; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; >, greater than; µg/L, microgram per liter; MRL, minimum report level; <, less than; NS, no sample analysis]

USGS site name	Nun of sar anal	nber nples yzed	Percer sampl detec microcyst	ntage of es with ctable in by ELISA	Percen sample microcy (µg	ntage of es with stin > 0.3 ŋ/L)	Percen sample microcy (µg	ntage of es with stin > 1.6 g/L)	ELISA microcyst or range of c if above ((µg	tin concentration oncentrations).10 (MRL) g/L)	EL microcys conce (µ	ISA tin median ntration g/L)
	2012	2013	2012	2013	2012	2013	2012	2013	2012	2013	2012	2013
					Isle Roya	ale National	Park					
Chickenbone Lake	9	9	22	0	0	0	0	0	<0.10-0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10
Lake Desor	4	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10
Lake Ahmik ¹	NS	9	NS	0	NS	0	NS	0	NS	< 0.10	NS	< 0.10
Lake Harvey	3	3	0	33	0	0	0	0	< 0.10	<0.10-0.20	< 0.10	< 0.10
LeSage Lake ²	9	NS	0	NS	0	NS	0	NS	< 0.10	NS	< 0.10	NS
Lake Richie	12	9	8	33	0	0	0	0	<0.10-0.12	<0.10-0.19	< 0.10	< 0.10
Sargent Lake	8	9	13	11	0	0	0	0	<0.10-0.11	<0.10-0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10
Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore												
Beaver Lake	3	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10
Grand Sable Lake	3	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10
Miners Lake	3	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10
Trappers Lake	3	3	100	67	100	33	0	0	0.35-1.10	<0.10-0.59	0.84	0.12
				Sleep	ing Bear Di	unes Nation	al Lakeshor	е				
Bass Lake (North)	9	9	100	67	0	0	0	0	0.12-0.25	<0.10-0.18	0.17	0.11
Florence Lake	3	3	100	67	67	0	33	0	0.11-2.70	<0.10-0.25	0.95	0.23
Loon Lake	9	6	67	50	33	50	0	0	<0.10-0.41	<0.10-0.88	0.12	0.22
Lake Manitou	9	8	67	50	33	0	0	0	<0.10-0.47	<0.01-0.11	0.14	0.10
North Bar Lake	9	6	33	0	33	0	0	0	<0.10-0.73	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10
Shell Lake	3	3	67	33	33	0	0	0	<0.10-0.31	<0.10-0.21	0.10	0.17
Lake Michigan Esch Road	3	3	33	0	0	0	0	0	<0.10-0.14	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10
Lake Michigan Glen Haven	3	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10
Lake Michigan Platte Point	3	3	33	67	33	33	0	0	<0.10-0.33	<0.10-0.43	< 0.10	0.22
Lake Michigan County Road 669	3	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10

¹2013 only.

²2012 only.

Table 6.
 Summary statistics of enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay microcystin results in 2012 and 2013 at Isle Royale National Park,

 Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore.

[>, greater than; μ g/L, microgram per liter; <, less than]

National Park System park unit	Number of samples collected	Percentage of samples with detectable microcystin (> 0.1 μg/L)	Percentage of samples with microcystin (> 0.3 μg/L)	Percentage of samples with microcystin (> 1.6 µg/L)	Mini- mum	25th percen- tile	Median	75th percen- tile	Maxi- mum
			20	12					
Isle Royale National Park	45	11	0	0	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	0.12
Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore	12	25	25	0	<0.1	< 0.1	<0.1	<0.1	1.1
Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore	54	57	22	2	<0.1	< 0.1	0.12	0.25	2.7
			20	13					
Isle Royale National Park	41	12	0	0	<0.1	<0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	0.2
Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore	12	17	8	0	<0.1	< 0.1	<0.1	< 0.1	0.59
Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore	47	40	9	0	<0.1	< 0.1	<0.1	0.12	0.88

18 Detection of Microcystin and Other Cyanotoxins in Lakes, Northern Michigan, 2012–13













Figure 7. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay microcystin results for lakes at Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, 2012–13.



Figure 8. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay microcystin results for lakes at Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore, 2012–13.

To assess if microcystin concentrations varied by study area, water samples were collected at different times throughout the summer (two to three samples). The differences in microcystin concentrations in 2012 and 2013 are shown in figure 9. In 2012 and 2013, the highest microcystin concentrations were detected from July through September. Microcystin concentrations, as well as the number of detections for ISRO and SLBE, were generally higher in 2012 compared to 2013, whereas PIRO had a higher number of microcystin detections in 2013 (table 6).

All the samples analyzed had total microcystin concentrations less than the 10 μ g/L WHO recreational water recommendation. The EPA 10-day health advisory for microcystin in drinking water for children less than 6-years old (0.3 μ g/L) was exceeded in approximately 10 percent of the samples (21 out of 211 samples). One sample exceeded the EPA drinking water 10-day health advisory of 1.6 μ g/L for school-age children through adults (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2015b).

The presence of microcystins was lake specific. Within a single lake on the same date, microcystin concentrations were fairly consistent; however, when comparing concentrations of microcystin among lakes within a park, the presence and concentration of microcystin could be quite variable on a given date, particularly at ISRO and SLBE. The majority of microcystin detections and higher concentrations were detected on inland lakes in SLBE, potentially because of increased nitrogen concentrations at those lakes (Beaver and others, 2014) or because of higher TN:TP ratios.

Although within-season sampling is limited, results indicated a seasonal temporal change toward higher microcystin concentrations and frequency of detection later in the summer. Typically, these results are because of increased sunlight and higher water temperatures that are more optimal for cyanobacterial growth (Beaver and others, 2014).

Visible blooms were not commonly noted during this study; however, when blooms were noted, microcystin concentrations were generally less than or near the MRL. Cyanotoxins are only produced by certain cyanobacteria and only under certain conditions. The factors that control cyanotoxin production are not fully understood and are complicated by movement of the algal bloom or cyanotoxins in the water column and across the lake. This study demonstrated that low level microcystin concentrations could be detected at many of the inland lakes even when blooms were not visible. This detection may be because cyanotoxins can be differentially transported in the dissolved-phase when natural cell senescence occurs, leading to situations where toxins may be present even if harmful algal blooms are not visible (Chorus and Bartram, 1999).



△ Isle Royale National Park

Figure 9. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay microcystin results for 2012 and 2013 at Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore.

Isle Royale National Park (ISRO)

ELISA results for microcystin concentrations for the six inland lakes at ISRO are presented in table 7 and figures 6 and 9.

Approximately 12 percent (10 of 86 samples) of the samples collected at ISRO had detectable microcystin concentrations (table 6). The highest microcystin concentrations at ISRO were detected in July 2012 (0.12 μ g/L) at Lake Richie and in August 2013 (0.2 μ g/L) at Lake Harvey (table 5, fig. 2).

In 2012, 45 samples were analyzed from ISRO and approximately 11 percent (5 samples) had detectable microcystin concentrations. Microcystin concentrations ranged from less than the MRL of 0.10 to 0.12 μ g/L. The overall median concentration is less than the MRL of 0.10 μ g/L. In 2013, 41 samples were analyzed from ISRO and approximately 12 percent (5 samples) had detectable microcystin concentrations. Concentrations ranged from less than the MRL of 0.10

to 0.20 μ g/L. The overall median concentration in 2013 was less than the MRL of 0.10 μ g/L (tables 5–6). In 2012 or 2013, no sample concentrations exceeded the EPA 10-day health advisory drinking water level for children preschool age and younger (0.3 μ g/L) or for school-age children through adults (1.6 μ g/L).

At Lake Richie, field crews visually observed algal blooms during eight sampling events and noted that algal blooms were not present during three events. No notation was made regarding the visual presence of algal blooms for 10 sampling events at Lake Richie. For seven of eight sampling events at Lake Richie in which algal blooms were recorded, microcystin concentrations were all less than the MRL; the concentration for the single microcystin detection was 0.19 μ g/L (table 5). Microcystin concentrations were detected during two sampling events (0.14 μ g/L and 0.15 μ g/L) that algal blooms were noted as not observed (table 7).

 Table 7.
 Microcystin results for samples collected at Isle Royale National Park, 2012–13.

[USGS, U.S. Geological Survey; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; µg/L, microgram per liter; E, East; CB, Chickenbone; ISRO, Isle Royale National Park; MI, Michigan; <, less than; NR, not recorded; W, west; S, south; NE, northeast; NW, northwest; Tr, trail; LeSage Lake is referred to as Lake LeSage]

USGS site name	USGS site number	Sample collection date	Sample collection time	ELISA microcystin, in µg/L	Visual presence of algal bloom
Chickenbone Lake near E CB Campground at ISRO, MI	480350088433001	6/21/2012	1245	< 0.10	NR
		7/23/2012	1555	0.10	NR
		8/14/2012	1055	< 0.10	NR
		6/20/2013	1200	< 0.10	NR
		7/20/2013	1215	< 0.10	NR
		8/18/2013	1250	< 0.10	NR
Chickenbone Lake near Old Portage at Isle Royale, MI	480429088431001	6/21/2012	1155	< 0.10	NR
		7/23/2012	1710	0.10	NR
		8/14/2012	1250	< 0.10	NR
		6/20/2013	1115	< 0.10	NR
		7/30/2013	1120	< 0.10	NR
		8/18/2013	1200	< 0.10	NR
Chickenbone Lake near W CB Campground at ISRO, MI	480426088415401	6/21/2012	1225	< 0.10	NR
		7/23/2012	1645	< 0.10	NR
		8/14/2012	1225	< 0.10	NR
		6/20/2013	1135	< 0.10	NR
		7/30/2013	1140	< 0.10	NR
		8/18/2013	1225	< 0.10	NR
Lake Ahmik near Portage at Isle Royale, MI	480856088322601	6/19/2013	1206	< 0.10	NR
		7/18/2013	1040	< 0.10	NR
		8/19/2013	1040	< 0.10	NR

Table 7. Microcystin results for samples collected at Isle Royale National Park, 2012–13.—Continued

[USGS, U.S. Geological Survey; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; µg/L, microgram per liter; E, East; CB, Chickenbone; ISRO, Isle Royale National Park; MI, Michigan; <, less than; NR, not recorded; W, west; S, south; NE, northeast; NW, northwest; Tr, trail; LeSage Lake is referred to as Lake LeSage]

USGS site name	USGS site number	Sample collection date	Sample collection time	ELISA microcystin, in µg/L	Visual presence of algal bloom
Lake Ahmik near South Shore at Isle Royale, MI	480856088322001	6/19/2013	1218	< 0.10	NR
		7/18/2013	0950	< 0.10	NR
		8/19/2013	1055	< 0.10	NR
Lake Ahmik near West End at Isle Royale, MI	480841088323401	6/19/2013	1235	< 0.10	NR
		7/18/2013	1005	< 0.10	NR
		8/19/2013	1120	< 0.10	NR
Lake Desor near S Desor Campground at Isle Royale, MI	475814088582001	6/25/2012	1350	< 0.10	NR
		7/22/2012	1240	< 0.10	NR
		7/22/2012	1410	< 0.10	NR
		8/23/2012	1130	< 0.10	NR
		6/19/2013	1310	< 0.10	NR
		8/16/2013	1420	< 0.10	NR
Lake Harvey near NE of Lake at Isle Royale, MI	480308088471401	6/14/2012	1245	< 0.10	NR
		7/18/2012	1330	< 0.10	NR
		8/15/2012	1225	< 0.10	NR
		7/1/2013	1200	< 0.10	NR
		7/16/2013	1155	< 0.10	NR
		8/28/2013	1325	0.20	NR
Lake LeSage near NE end of Lake at Isle Royale, MI	480338088415901	6/21/2012	1635	< 0.10	NR
		7/23/2012	1330	< 0.10	NR
		8/16/2012	1200	< 0.10	NR
Lake LeSage near NW Portage at Isle Royale, MI	480318088430801	6/21/2012	1615	< 0.10	NR
		7/23/2012	1255	< 0.10	NR
		8/16/2012	1140	< 0.10	NR
Lake LeSage near South Portage at Isle Royale, MI	480317088422601	6/21/2012	1625	< 0.10	NR
		7/23/2012	1315	< 0.10	NR
		8/16/2012	1305	< 0.10	NR
Lake Richie at Moskey Portage Isle Royale, MI	48030888410001	8/16/2012	1410	< 0.10	NR
		8/22/2012	1300	< 0.10	Yes
Lake Richie near Bedrock Beach at Isle Royale, MI	480305088410601	6/15/2012	1100	< 0.10	NR
		7/25/2012	1145	0.12	NR
		8/22/2012	1310	< 0.10	Yes
		6/27/2013	1240	< 0.10	No
		7/19/2013	1335	0.15	No
		8/26/2013	1040	< 0.10	Yes

24 Detection of Microcystin and Other Cyanotoxins in Lakes, Northern Michigan, 2012–13

Table 7. Microcystin results for samples collected at Isle Royale National Park, 2012–13.—Continued

[USGS, U.S. Geological Survey; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; μ g/L, microgram per liter; E, East; CB, Chickenbone; ISRO, Isle Royale National Park; MI, Michigan; <, less than; NR, not recorded; W, west; S, south; NE, northeast; NW, northwest; Tr, trail; LeSage Lake is referred to as Lake LeSage]

USGS site name	USGS site number	Sample collection date	Sample collection time	ELISA microcystin, in µg/L	Visual presence of algal bloom
Lake Richie near Canoe Campground at Isle Royale, MI	480237088415701	6/15/2012	1145	< 0.10	NR
		7/25/2012	1210	< 0.10	NR
		8/22/2012	1335	< 0.10	Yes
		6/27/2013	1300	< 0.10	Yes
		7/19/2013	1310	0.19	Yes
		8/26/2013	1100	< 0.10	NR
Lake Richie near Indian Portage Tr at Isle Royale, MI	480155088412101	6/15/2012	1410	< 0.10	NR
		7/25/2012	1230	< 0.10	NR
		8/22/2012	1300	< 0.10	Yes
		8/22/2012	1350	< 0.10	NR
		6/27/2013	1330	< 0.10	NR
		7/19/2013	1140	0.14	No
		8/26/2013	1125	< 0.10	Yes
Sargent Lake near NE end of Lake at Isle Royale, MI	480557088391001	7/26/2012	1400	0.10	NR
		8/17/2012	1344	< 0.10	NR
		6/24/2013	1530	< 0.10	NR
		7/17/2013	1405	< 0.10	NR
		8/20/2013	1120	< 0.10	NR
Sargent Lake near NW end of Lake at Isle Royale, MI	480518088401401	6/19/2012	1600	< 0.10	NR
		7/26/2012	1420	< 0.10	NR
		8/17/2012	1415	< 0.10	NR
		6/24/2013	1500	< 0.10	NR
		7/17/2013	1345	< 0.10	NR
		8/20/2013	1300	0.10	NR
Sargent Lake near S Basin Portage at Isle Royale, MI	480535088390901	6/19/2012	1545	< 0.10	NR
		7/26/2012	1230	0.11	NR
		8/17/2012	1200	< 0.10	NR
		6/24/2013	1345	< 0.10	NR
		7/17/2013	1230	< 0.10	NR
		8/20/2013	1145	< 0.10	NR

Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore (PIRO)

Microcystin levels for the four inland lakes at PIRO are listed in table 8 and shown in figures 7 and 9. Approximately 21 percent of the samples (5 of 24 samples) collected at PIRO had detectable microcystin concentrations. Trappers Lake (fig. 7) was the only location with detectable microcystin in 2012 and 2013. In 2012, microcystin was detected during all three sampling events, with the highest concentration detected in July 2012 (1.1 μ g/L) (table 5).

In 2012, 12 samples were analyzed from PIRO, 25 percent of the samples (3 samples) had detectable microcystin concentrations that ranged from less than the MRL of 0.10 to 1.10 μ g/L. The overall median concentration was less than the MRL of 0.10 μ g/L. In 2013, approximately 17 percent (2 samples) of the 12 samples analyzed had detectable levels of microcystin. Concentrations ranged from less than 0.10 to 0.59 μ g/L. The median concentration was less than the MRL of 0.10 μ g/L.

In 2012 and 2013, approximately 17 percent of samples from PIRO exceeded the EPA 10-day health advisory drinking-water level for children preschool age and younger (0.3 μ g/L), and no samples exceeded the health advisory for school-age children through adults (1.6 μ g/L). Four samples collected at Trappers Lake exceeded the drinking-water advisory for children preschool age and younger; with three exceedances in 2012 and one exceedance in 2013 (table 8).

Field crews visually observed algal blooms during three sampling events; two occasions at Trappers Lake in June and July 2012 and one occasion at Miners Lake (fig. 3) in August 2013. No notation was made regarding the visual presence of algal blooms for the remaining sampling events. Microcystin concentrations at Miners Lake in August 2013 were less than the MRL; however, in 2012 and 2013, the visual presence of algal blooms at Trappers Lake was consistent with microcystin detections above $0.3 \mu g/L$ (table 8).

Table 8. Microcystin results for samples collected at Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, 2012–13.

[USGS, U.S. Geological Survey; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; µg/L, microgram per liter; SC, south-central; MI, Michigan; <, less than; NR, not recorded; E, east; SW, southwest]

USGS site name	USGS site number	Sample collection date	Sample collection time	ELISA microcystin, in µg/L	Visual presence of algal bloom
Beaver Lake near SC Shore at Pictured Rocks, MI	463330086204001	6/21/2012	1350	< 0.10	NR
		7/20/2012	1326	< 0.10	NR
		8/30/2012	1051	< 0.10	NR
		6/17/2013	1120	< 0.10	NR
		7/29/2013	1110	< 0.10	NR
		9/3/2013	1400	< 0.10	NR
Grand Sable Lake near E Shore at Pictured Rocks, MI	463835086015301	6/19/2012	2038	< 0.10	NR
		7/27/2012	1236	< 0.10	NR
		8/31/2012	1310	< 0.10	NR
		6/12/2013	1345	< 0.10	NR
		7/25/2013	1300	< 0.10	NR
		8/29/2013	1308	< 0.10	NR
Miners Lake near SW Shore at Pictured Rocks, MI	462846086321301	6/15/2012	1136	< 0.10	NR
		7/23/2012	1130	< 0.10	NR
		8/27/2012	1218	< 0.10	NR
		6/10/2013	1140	< 0.10	NR
		7/23/2013	1210	< 0.10	NR
		8/26/2013	1245	< 0.10	Yes
Trappers Lake near Campground at Pictured Rocks, MI	463516086185201	6/22/2012	1413	0.35	Yes
		7/31/2012	1250	1.10	Yes
		9/7/2012	1319	0.84	NR
		6/14/2013	1330	< 0.10	NR
		7/24/2013	1225	0.12	NR
		8/28/2013	1300	0.59	NR

Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore (SLBE)

Microcystin levels for the six inland lakes and four Lake Michigan sampling locations at SLBE are presented in table 9 and figures 8–9. Approximately 50 percent (50 of 101 samples) of the samples collected at SLBE in 2012 and 2013 had detectable levels of microcystin. The highest microcystin concentrations were measured from the end of August through September in 2012 and in August 2013 (table 9).

In 2012, 54 samples were analyzed from SLBE. Of the 54 samples analyzed, 42 samples were collected from inland lakes, and 12 samples were collected from Lake Michigan. Approximately 57 percent of the samples (31 of 54 samples) in 2012 had detectable microcystin concentrations that ranged from less than the MRL of 0.10 to 2.70 μ g/L. The overall median concentration at SLBE was just above the MRL, 0.12 μ g/L. The highest inland lake microcystin concentration was 2.70 μ g/L and was collected at Florence Lake in September 2012 (table 5). Only two of the four Lake Michigan sites had detectable concentrations of microcystin in 2012. The highest concentration among the Lake Michigan sites was 0.33 μ g/L and was collected at the site near Platte Point in August, 2012 (table 5).

In 2013, 47 microcystin samples were analyzed that included 35 samples from inland lakes, and 12 samples from Lake Michigan. Approximately 40 percent of the samples (19 of 47 samples) in 2013 had detectable microcystin concentrations that ranged from less than the MRL of 0.10 to 0.88 μ g/L. The overall median concentration at SLBE in 2013 was less than the MRL of 0.10 μ g/L. The highest inland lake concentration was recorded at Loon Lake in August 2013 (0.88 μ g/L) (table 5). Only one of the four Lake Michigan sites had detectable concentrations of microcystin in 2013; the highest concentration among all SLBE sampling sites was 0.43 μ g/L at the Lake Michigan site near Platte Point in August, 2013 (table 5, table 9).

In 2012, 22 percent of samples were above the EPA 10-day health advisory drinking-water level for children preschool age and younger (21 samples), and 2 percent of samples (1 sample) exceeded the guideline for school-age children through adults (1.6 μ g/L). In 2013, 9 percent of samples were above the EPA 10-day health advisory drinking water level for children preschool age and younger (0.3 μ g/L), and no samples exceeded the guideline for school-age children through adults (1.6 μ g/L). No observations were recorded if lake microcystin samples were collected while an algal bloom was visibly present at SLBE.

Table 9. Microcystin results for samples collected at Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore, 2012–13.

[USGS, U.S. Geological Survey; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; µg/L, microgram per liter; SBDNL, Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore; MI, Michigan; <, less than; SE, southeast; Lake Manitou is referred to as Manitou Lake]

USGS site name	USGS site number	Sample collection date	Sample collection time	ELISA microcystin, in µg/L
Bass Lake North near North Shore at SBDNL, MI	445543085530801	6/19/2012	1710	0.25
		7/24/2012	1645	0.18
		9/17/2012	1625	0.14
		6/25/2013	1645	0.11
		8/8/2013	1345	< 0.10
		9/6/2013	1600	0.18
Bass Lake North near SE Boat Launch at SBDNL, MI	445518085525301	6/19/2012	1640	0.17
		7/24/2012	1625	0.17
		9/17/2012	1600	0.16
		6/25/2013	1550	< 0.10
		8/8/2013	1250	0.10
		9/6/2013	1530	0.12
Bass Lake North near Glen Lake Benchmark at SBDNL, MI	445518085525401	6/19/2012	1625	0.12
		7/24/2012	1630	0.17
		9/17/2012	1610	0.17
		6/25/2013	1610	< 0.10
		8/8/2013	1310	0.12
		9/6/2013	1540	0.15

Table 9. Microcystin results for samples collected at Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore, 2012–13.—Continued

[USGS, U.S. Geological Survey; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; $\mu g/L$, microgram per liter; SBDNL, Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore; MI, Michigan; <, less than; SE, southeast; Lake Manitou is referred to as Manitou Lake]

USGS site name	USGS site number	Sample collection date	Sample collection time	ELISA microcystin, in µg/L
Florence Lake near Boat Launch at SBDNL, MI	450037086070801	6/21/2012	1250	0.11
		7/31/2012	1330	0.95
		9/13/2012	1315	2.70
		6/18/2013	1200	< 0.10
		7/25/2013	1230	0.25
		9/9/2013	1155	0.23
Lake Michigan near County Road 669 at SBDNL, MI	445623085522101	6/20/2012	1445	< 0.10
		8/2/2012	1115	< 0.10
		10/2/2012	1600	< 0.10
		6/27/2013	1320	< 0.10
		8/7/2013	1315	< 0.10
		9/4/2013	1000	< 0.10
Lake Michigan near Esch Road at SBDNL, MI	444546086043501	6/19/2012	1400	< 0.10
		8/2/2012	0930	0.14
		10/1/2012	1720	< 0.10
		6/26/2013	1635	< 0.10
		8/7/2013	1045	< 0.10
		9/3/2013	1120	< 0.10
Lake Michigan near Glen Haven at SBDNL, MI	445418086013401	6/20/2012	1545	< 0.10
		8/2/2012	1240	< 0.10
		10/2/2012	1630	< 0.10
		6/27/2013	1450	< 0.10
		8/7/2013	1200	< 0.10
		9/4/2013	1100	< 0.10
Lake Michigan near Platte Point at SBDNL, MI	444355086091101	6/19/2012	1150	< 0.10
		8/2/2012	0900	0.33
		10/1/2012	1645	< 0.10
		6/26/2013	1500	< 0.10
		8/7/2013	1000	0.43
		9/3/2013	0945	0.22
Loon Lake near Boat Launch at SBDNL, MI	444232086073501	6/20/2012	1645	< 0.10
		7/26/2012	1855	0.35
		9/21/2012	1400	0.11
		6/26/2013	1415	< 0.10
		8/1/2013	1635	0.88

28 Detection of Microcystin and Other Cyanotoxins in Lakes, Northern Michigan, 2012–13

Table 9. Microcystin results for samples collected at Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore, 2012–13.—Continued

 $[USGS, U.S. Geological Survey; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; \mu g/L, microgram per liter; SBDNL, Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore; MI, Michigan; <, less than; SE, southeast; Lake Manitou is referred to as Manitou Lake]$

USGS site name	USGS site number	Sample collection date	Sample collection time	ELISA microcystin, in µg/L
Loon Lake near Cove at Sleeping Bear Dunes NL, MI	444235086073701	6/20/2012	1625	< 0.10
		7/26/2012	1840	0.35
		9/21/2012	1335	< 0.10
		6/26/2013	1420	< 0.10
		8/1/2013	1625	0.34
Loon Lake near Platte River Inlet at SBDNL, MI	444235086074001	6/20/2012	1615	0.17
		7/26/2012	1830	0.41
		9/21/2012	1325	0.12
		6/26/2013	1410	< 0.10
		8/1/2013	1610	0.37
Manitou Lake near Boat Launch at SBDNL, MI	450714086011301	6/21/2012	2020	< 0.10
		7/31/2012	2040	0.14
		9/13/2012	2025	0.37
		6/18/2013	2005	< 0.10
		7/25/2013	1845	0.11
		9/10/2013	1405	< 0.10
Manitou Lake near Midpoint at SBDNL, MI	450722086011201	6/21/2012	2040	< 0.10
		7/31/2012	2100	0.17
		9/13/2012	2010	0.43
		6/18/2013	1950	< 0.10
		7/25/2013	1900	0.11
		9/10/2013	1330	0.11
Manitou Lake near Point at SBDNL, MI	450729086011901	6/21/2012	2100	< 0.10
		7/31/2012	2025	0.11
		9/13/2012	2000	0.47
		6/18/2013	1935	< 0.10
		7/25/2013	1920	0.10
North Bar Lake near Boat Launch at SBDNL, MI	445037086035301	6/20/2012	1345	< 0.10
		7/25/2012	1445	< 0.10
		9/26/2012	1825	0.73
		7/2/2013	1300	< 0.10
		8/1/2013	1215	< 0.10
North Bar Lake near North Shore at SBDNL, MI	445039086035501	6/20/2012	1340	< 0.10
		7/25/2012	1450	< 0.10
		9/26/2012	1815	0.62
		7/2/2013	1315	< 0.10
		8/1/2013	1205	< 0.10

Table 9. Microcystin results for samples collected at Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore, 2012–13.—Continued

[USGS, U.S. Geological Survey; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; µg/L, microgram per liter; SBDNL, Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore; MI, Michigan; <, less than; SE, southeast; Lake Manitou is referred to as Manitou Lake]

USGS site name	USGS site number	Sample collection date	Sample collection time	ELISA microcystin, in µg/L
North Bar Lake near Outlet at SBDNL, MI	445034086035701	6/20/2012	1330	< 0.10
		7/25/2012	1420	< 0.10
		9/26/2012	1800	0.49
		7/2/2013	1400	< 0.10
		8/1/2013	1155	< 0.10
Shell Lake near East Shore Boat Launch at SBDNL, MI	445657085535501	6/15/2012	1500	0.10
		7/24/2012	1300	< 0.10
		9/17/2012	1725	0.31
		6/21/2013	1410	< 0.10
		7/31/2013	1645	0.21
		9/6/2013	1300	0.17

Within-Lake Microcystin Variability

To address the potential for spatial and temporal variability in microcystin concentrations that may occur within a single lake, samples from multiple sites at select lakes were collected at ISRO and SLBE. Samples were collected at three locations at Lake Manitou, Bass Lake, North Bar Lake, and Loon Lake in SLBE (fig. 4) and collected at least three locations at ISRO lakes (Chickenbone Lake, Lake Ahmik, LeSage Lake, Lake Richie, and Sargent Lake). Samples were not collected from multiple sites at PIRO lakes because of sampling logistics.

Isle Royale National Park (ISRO)

The microcystin concentrations within or among ISRO lakes were similar, temporally and spatially; with the exception of Lake Richie (greatest difference between sample concentrations was $0.09 \ \mu g/L$) (fig. 10). Lake Richie had the highest frequency of microcystin detections than all other ISRO lakes (8 percent of samples with detectable microcystin in 2012; 33 percent in 2013); however, Lake Harvey had the highest microcystin detection ($0.20 \ \mu g/L$) (table 5, table 7). Within-lake spatial variability at Lake Richie appears to be minimal, with peak concentrations detected in July 2012 and 2013 at all sampling locations. Only one location was monitored at Lake Harvey; thus, spatial variability was not assessed (fig. 10, table 7).

Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore (PIRO)

Water samples were collected from only one location at each of the study lakes within PIRO; therefore, spatial variability was not assessed (fig. 11, table 8). Trappers Lake was the only lake within PIRO where microcystin was detected during the study period. The highest concentrations of microcystin were detected during late July in 2012 (1.10 μ g/L) and in late August 2013 (0.59 μ g/L) (table 5, table 8).

Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore (SLBE)

At SLBE, within-lake spatial variability was similar at the four lakes where multiple site locations were sampled (fig. 12, table 9). Most microcystin concentrations at each lake were within 0.01 to 0.10 μ g/L. The greatest difference between sample concentrations was 0.54 μ g/L collected at Loon Lake during the August 1, 2013, sampling event (table 9).

Unlike the other study areas, SLBE had greater between lake variability and differences in temporal patterns of microcystin. Lake Manitou and North Bar Lake indicated similar temporal patterns and ELISA microcystin concentrations, (with low concentrations throughout the study and a single peak in concentration in September 2012) (fig. 12). For Bass Lake, the peak concentration for two of the three sites occurred in June 2012; however, in 2013, the concentrations for all three Bass Lake sites were lowest in June and highest in September. At Loon Lake, concentrations were highest during the sampling in July 2012 and August 2013, with concentrations near or less than the MRL at all other sampling dates.



Figure 10. Temporal and spatial variability of microcystin concentrations for Isle Royale National Park.



Figure 11. Temporal variability of microcystin concentrations for Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore.



Figure 12. Temporal and spatial variability of microcystin concentrations for Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore.

Cyanotoxin Results Using the Liquid Chromatography/Tandem Mass Spectrometry Method

A subset of samples (n = 39; 18 percent) were analyzed by LC/MS/MS for toxins from 7 lakes in 2012 and 12 lakes in 2013 (table 10).

The samples analyzed using LC/MS/MS were purposely biased towards lakes with greater microcystin detections by ELISA (74 percent detection frequency) for confirmation of microcystin detections. The LC/MS/MS method also was used to assess the occurrence of anatoxin-a, as well as differentiation of microcystin congeners. No detections were observed above the MRL for anatoxin-a, cylindrospermopsin, domoic acid, nodularin-R, and okadaic acid.

In 2012, samples were analyzed from 1 location at PIRO and 12 locations at SLBE. Based on the low concentrations of microcystin, ISRO was not included in the 2012 LC/MS/ MS analyses. Out of 16 samples analyzed, 15 samples had at least 1 microcystin congener detected (table 10). Microcystin-LR was the most frequently detected congener (7 out of 16 samples). Microcystin-WR and microcystin-YR were each detected in 2 out of 16 samples. Microcystin congeners greater than the MRL were added together to estimate total microcystin for each sample. Total concentration estimates ranged from less than the MRL to $0.69 \mu g/L$, with a median value of $0.26 \mu g/L$ and a mean value of $0.31 \mu g/L$ (table 10).

In 2013, samples were collected and analyzed from 6 locations at ISRO, 1 location at PIRO, and 10 locations at SLBE. A total of 21 samples were analyzed in 2013; 6 samples had at least 1 detectable microcystin congener. Similar to 2012, microcystin-LR was the most frequently detected congener (table 10). Total microcystin concentration estimates for 2013 ranged from less than the MRL to 0.35 μ g/L. The median and mean values of the six samples with detectable values were 0.20 and 0.22 μ g/L, respectively.

In general, the microcystin results between the ELISA and LC/MS/MS methods were similar with a coefficient of determination (R-squared) of 0.772 (fig. 13), which was derived from a linear regression (Helsel and Hirsch, 2002).

Note that the trendline in figure 13 does not include the outlier of 2.70 µg/L (table 5) collected at Florence Lake at SLBE in September 2012. Although LC/MS/MS includes a larger suite of algal toxins, only microcystin congeners were detected. Total microcystin concentrations were similar, although the ELISA results tended to be higher than the summation of LC/MS/MS microcystin congeners (fig. 13, table 10). The higher ELISA results may be because not all congeners are included in the LC/MS/MS method, and the ELISA used for microcystins is reactive with the ADDA functional group ([2S,3S,8S,9S]-3-amino-9-methoxy-2,6,8-trimethyl-10-phenyldeca-4[E],6[E]-dienoic acid) common to all microcystins and nodularins (Chorus and Bartram, 1999; Graham and others, 2010), making the assay cross-reactivities among the microcystins tested to date fairly similar (for example, approximately 80 to 120 percent compared with microcystin-LR) (Abraxis, 2017; Fischer and others, 2001).

Quality Control Results

Most of the environmental samples for which field replicates were collected had nondetectable concentrations of microcystin using the ELISA method. For samples with detectable concentrations of microcystin using the ELISA method (6 samples), the mean relative percent difference was 10 percent for field replicates.

Two of the three samples analyzed as laboratory replicates using the LC/MS/MS method resulted in nondetects for all toxins. One sample was positive for microcystins-LA and microcystins-LR, with a mean relative percent standard deviation of 17 percent. The two samples with nondetects were spiked in the laboratory with a toxin standard mix of 1.0 μ g/L equivalent for each toxin, with a mean percent recovery of 111 percent, which is within the acceptable limits of 80–120 percent for the laboratory (Magnusson and Örnemark, 2014).

All field blanks had reported microcystin concentrations of less than the MRL. Quality control results for field blanks and replicates are available in the USGS National Water Information System (NWIS) at https://dx.doi.org/10.5066/ F7P55KJN.
 Table 10.
 Results of the liquid chromatography/tandom mass spectrometry analysis for Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes

 National Lakeshore , 2012–13.

[USGS, U.S. Geological Survey; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; µg/L, microgram per liter; MCLA, microcystin-LA; MCLY, microcystin-LY; MCLR, microcystin-LR; MCWR, microcystin-WR; MCYR, microcystin-YR; MCHtYR, microcystin-HtYR; MCLW, microcystin-LW; MCRR, microcystin-RR; LC/MS/MS, liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry; MC, microcystin; W, west; CB, Chickenbone; ISRO, Isle Royale National Park; MI, Michigan; <, less than; ND, not detected; NE, northeast; SBDNL, Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore; NL, National Lakeshore; Lake Manitou is referred to as Manitou Lake]

USGS site name	USGS site number	Collection date	ELISA microcystin, in µg/L	MCLA, in µg/L	MCLY, in µg/L	MCLR, in µg/L	MCWR, in µg/L	MCYR, in µg/L	MCHtYR, in µg/L	MCLW, in µg/L	MCRR, in µg/L	Sum of microcystins measured (LC/MS/MS, in µg/L)	Difference between ELISA and sum of LC/MS/MS MC/ nodularins
	Isle Royale National Park												
Chickenbone Lake near W CB Campground at ISRO, MI	480426088415401	7/30/2013	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	<0.10	<0.10	<0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	< 0.10	ND
Chickenbone Lake near W CB Campground at ISRO, MI	480426088415401	8/18/2013	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	< 0.10	ND
Lake Ahmik near Portage at Isle Royale, MI	480856088322601	6/19/2013	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	< 0.10	ND
Lake Ahmik near South Shore at Isle Royale, MI	480856088322001	7/18/2013	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	< 0.10	ND
Lake Ahmik near South Shore at Isle Royale, MI	480856088322001	8/19/2013	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	< 0.10	ND
Lake Harvey near NE of Lake at Isle Royale, MI	480308088471401	8/28/2013	0.20	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	<0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	< 0.10	ND
Lake Richie near Bedrock Beach at Isle Royale, MI	480305088410601	7/19/2013	0.15	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	<0.10	< 0.10	ND
Lake Richie near Bedrock Beach at Isle Royale, MI	480305088410601	8/26/2013	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	< 0.10	ND
Lake Richie near Canoe Camp- ground at Isle Royale, MI	480237088415701	7/19/2013	0.19	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	<0.10	0.1	0.09
			Pictu	red Rock	s National	Lakeshor	е						
Trappers Lake near Campground at Pictured Rocks, MI	463516086185201	6/22/2012	0.35	0.16	< 0.10	0.11	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	0.27	0.08
Trappers Lake near Campground at Pictured Rocks, MI	463516086185201	7/31/2012	1.05	0.26	< 0.10	0.42	< 0.10	<0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	<0.10	0.68	0.37
Trappers Lake near Campground at Pictured Rocks, MI	463516086185201	9/7/2012	0.84	0.16	< 0.10	0.25	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	0.41	0.43
Trappers Lake near Campground at Pictured Rocks, MI	463516086185201	8/28/2013	0.59	0.13	< 0.10	0.16	< 0.10	<0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	<0.10	0.29	0.3

34

Table 10. Results of the liquid chromatography/tandom mass spectrometry analysis for Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore , 2012–13. Continued

[USGS, U.S. Geological Survey; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; µg/L, microgram per liter; MCLA, microcystin-LA; MCLY, microcystin-LY; MCLR, microcystin-LR; MCWR, microcystin-WR; MCYR, microcystin-YR; MCHtYR, microcystin-HtYR; MCLW, microcystin-LW; MCRR, microcystin-RR; LC/MS/MS, liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry; MC, microcystin; W, west; CB, Chickenbone; ISRO, Isle Royale National Park; MI, Michigan; <, less than; ND, not detected; NE, northeast; SBDNL, Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore; NL, National Lakeshore; Lake Manitou is referred to as Manitou Lake]

USGS site name	USGS site number	Collection date	ELISA microcystin, in µg/L	MCLA, in µg/L	MCLY, in µg/L	MCLR, in µg/L	MCWR, in µg/L	MCYR, in µg/L	MCHtYR, in µg/L	MCLW, in µg/L	MCRR, in µg/L	Sum of microcystins measured (LC/MS/MS, in µg/L)	Difference between ELISA and sum of LC/MS/MS MC/ nodularins
Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore													
Bass Lake North near North Shore at SBDNL, MI	445543085530801	9/6/2013	0.18	< 0.10	< 0.10	<0.10	<0.10	< 0.10	<0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	< 0.10	ND
Shell Lake near East Shore Boat Launch at SBDNL, MI	445657085535501	9/17/2012	0.31	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	< 0.10	ND
Shell Lake near East Shore Boat Launch at SBDNL, MI	445657085535501	7/31/2013	0.21	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	< 0.10	ND
Bass Lake North near Glen Lake Benchmark at SBDNL, MI	445518085525401	9/6/2013	0.15	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	< 0.10	ND
Florence Lake near Boat Launch at SBDNL, MI	450037086070801	7/31/2012	0.95	0.36	< 0.10	< 0.10	0.12	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	0.48	0.47
Florence Lake near Boat Launch at SBDNL, MI	450037086070801	9/13/2012	2.71	0.69	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	0.69	2.02
Florence Lake near Boat Launch at SBDNL, MI	450037086070801	7/25/2013	0.25	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	< 0.10	ND
Lake Michigan near Platte Point at SBDNL, MI	444355086091101	8/2/2012	0.33	0.14	< 0.10	0.12	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	0.26	0.07
Lake Michigan near Platte Point at SBDNL, MI	444355086091101	8/7/2013	0.43	< 0.10	< 0.10	0.19	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	0.19	0.24
Loon Lake near Boat Launch at SBDNL, MI	444232086073501	7/26/2012	0.35	0.10	< 0.10	0.16	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	0.26	0.09
Loon Lake near Boat Launch at SBDNL, MI	444232086073501	8/1/2013	0.88	< 0.10	< 0.10	0.35	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	0.35	0.53
Loon Lake near Cove at Sleeping Bear Dunes NL, MI	444235086073701	7/26/2012	0.35	< 0.10	< 0.10	0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	0.1	0.25
Loon Lake near Cove at Sleeping Bear Dunes NL, MI	444235086073701	6/26/2013	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	< 0.10	ND

မ္မ

Table 10. Results of the liquid chromatography/tandom mass spectrometry analysis for Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore , 2012–13. Continued

[USGS, U.S. Geological Survey; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; μg/L, microgram per liter; MCLA, microcystin-LA; MCLY, microcystin-LY; MCLR, microcystin-LR; MCWR, microcystin-WR; MCYR, microcystin-YR; MCHtYR, microcystin-HtYR; MCLW, microcystin-LW; MCRR, microcystin-RR; LC/MS/MS, liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry; MC, microcystin; W, west; CB, Chickenbone; ISRO, Isle Royale National Park; MI, Michigan; <, less than; ND, not detected; NE, northeast; SBDNL, Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore; NL, National Lakeshore; Lake Manitou is referred to as Manitou Lake]

USGS site name	USGS site number	Collection date	ELISA microcystin, in µg/L	MCLA, in µg/L	MCLY, in µg/L	MCLR, in µg/L	MCWR, in µg/L	MCYR, in µg/L	MCHtYR, in µg/L	MCLW, in µg/L	MCRR, in µg/L	Sum of microcystins measured (LC/MS/MS, in µg/L)	Difference between ELISA and sum of LC/MS/MS MC/ nodularins
Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore—Continued													
Loon Lake near Cove at Sleeping Bear Dunes NL, MI	444235086073701	8/1/2013	0.34	< 0.10	<0.10	0.19	< 0.10	<0.10	<0.10	< 0.30	<0.10	0.19	0.15
Loon Lake near Platte River Inlet at SBDNL, MI	444235086074001	7/26/2012	0.41	< 0.10	< 0.10	0.14	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	0.14	0.27
Loon Lake near Platte River Inlet at SBDNL, MI	444235086074001	8/1/2013	0.37	< 0.10	< 0.10	0.21	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	0.21	0.16
Manitou Lake near Boat Launch at SBDNL, MI	450714086011301	9/13/2012	0.37	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	0.15	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	0.15	0.22
Manitou Lake near Boat Launch at SBDNL, MI	450714086011301	6/18/2013	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	< 0.10	ND
Manitou Lake near Midpoint at SBDNL, MI	450722086011201	9/13/2012	0.43	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	0.13	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	0.13	0.3
Manitou Lake near Point at Sleeping Bear Dunes NL, MI	450729086011901	9/17/2012	0.47	0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	0.2	0.27
North Bar Lake near Outlet at SBDNL, MI	445034086035701	9/26/2012	0.49	0.18	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	0.18	0.31
North Bar Lake near Boat Launch at SBDNL, MI	445037086035301	9/26/2012	0.73	0.4	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	0.4	0.33
North Bar Lake near Boat Launch at SBDNL, MI	445037086035301	7/2/2013	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	< 0.10	ND
North Bar Lake near North Shore at SBDNL, MI	445039086035501	9/26/2012	0.62	0.23	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.30	< 0.10	0.23	0.39



ELISA microcystin (microcystin-LR), in micrograms per liter

Figure 13. Comparison of total microcystin (by summation of liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry [LC/MS/MS] congeners [y]) to enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) microcystin (x) results at Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore.

Nutrients and Chlorophyll *a* at National Park Service Lakes

Nutrients are essential for natural plant and animal growth; however, elevated nutrient concentrations in streams and lakes can trigger the growth of harmful algae, which can be potentially toxic to fish and other organisms, including humans (U.S. Geological Survey, 2014). Sixteen of the lakes included in this cyanotoxin study also were monitored by the NPS for a variety of water-quality monitoring parameters including TP, TN, chlorophyll a, and Secchi-disk transparency, which is a measure of water transparency. Water-quality data for each lake are presented in table 11. Nutrient and chlorophyll a samples were collected from the deepest areas of the lakes, whereas the samples collected for cyanotoxin analysis were collected in waist deep water near the shoreline from 0.5 to 1.0 meter below the water surface where people would be most likely to enjoy recreation or obtain water for drinking. However, for most sites, the nutrient and chlorophyll a samples were collected from each lake on the same day as cyanotoxin monitoring. The TP concentrations were, on average, highest at the ISRO lakes, whereas TN concentrations were highest at SLBE.

Mean lake concentrations of TP, TN, chlorophyll *a*, and water transparency were compared to the percentage of ELISA microcystin detections (fig. 14). Chlorophyll *a*, TP, and Secchi-disk transparency, when related to ELISA percent microcystin detection, resulted in an R-squared less than 0.045. The range of TP and chlorophyll *a* concentrations in this study may not have been large enough to fully characterize the relation between microcystin and nutrients, thus potentially impacting the relation between chlorophyll *a*, TP, and secchi-disk transparency to microcystins detections. However, TN and TN:TP ratio resulted in an R-squared of 0.269 and 0.340, respectively (2012 and 2013 combined dataset, derived from linear regression) (fig. 14). Results indicated a positive correlation overall when comparing TN to the percentage of microcystin detections for all the sites.

The average annual TN:TP ratios for the 16 lakes within the national park and national lakeshores study areas ranged from about 20 to 89 (table 11). The majority of the TN:TP ratios observed in this study are higher than the significant ranges identified in previous studies (Scott and others, 2013; Orihel and others, 2012). Nutrient ratios tended to be lower in samples collected from ISRO and PIRO compared to SLBE. However, Trappers Lake at PIRO had TN:TP ratios more similar to lakes at SLBE. The TN:TP ratios were compared with microcystin concentrations for those lakes that had microcystin detections using ELISA (greater than 0.1 μ g/L) and for those lakes with nutrient data (figs. 14–15). Overall, the results indicated a slight increase (positive trendline) in percentage of microcystin concentrations with an increase in TN:TP ratio (figs. 14–15), most likely because of the few higher microcystin detections collected at Florence Lake (SLBE) and Trappers Lake (PIRO). A minimal overall upward trend (R-squared = 0.012) related increased TN:TP ratios to increased microcystin concentrations.

Scott and others (2013) reported that TN:TP ratio was the strongest predictor of microcystin. The highest microcystin concentrations were detected when the TN:TP ratio was less than 12 or greater than 23 (Scott and others, 2013). This determination is somewhat opposite of what was indicated at the NPS lakes in Michigan; however, in only two samples collected during this study were microcystin concentrations greater than 1 μ g/L, which was the lowest value used in the model by Scott and others (2013). Trappers Lake (PIRO) and Florence Lake (SLBE) had some of the highest cyanotoxin concentrations as well as the some of the highest TN:TP ratios, contrary to previously published literature (Scott and others, 2013; Orihel and others, 2012).

Thus, even though the TN:TP ratios were high in this study, microcystin concentrations averaged approximately 0.16 μ g/L (not much greater than the detection limit for ELISA at 0.10 μ g/L), which may not be comparable to studies such as Scott and others (2013) where higher concentrations of microcystin were detected.

Potential Future Studies

This study provided a baseline to assess the current cyanotoxin occurrence and distribution at ISRO, PIRO, and SLBE. Future monitoring may be needed, however, because climate change can affect lake temperatures, thermal stratification, and nutrient delivery to these lakes. Climate change and human activities that increase nutrient inputs into the environment (for example, agriculture, wastewater discharge, and stormwater runoff) may encourage algal growth and potential for toxin production (Adrian and others, 2009).

A more comprehensive monitoring effort at SLBE inland lakes would help to further explain why microcystins were more frequently detected and found at higher concentrations at SLBE than the other study areas. As this study indicated, higher microcystin concentrations were often measured later in the summer; thus, the monitoring strategy could concentrate efforts during late summer when microcystin and other cyanotoxin concentrations would likely be at their highest. This study also highlights the fact that microcystin concentrations were detected even when algal blooms were not noted, and thus sampling during the presence and the absence of blooms would be beneficial and would aid in determining the driver(s) of cyanotoxin detections. A similar monitoring strategy also could be considered for Trappers Lake (PIRO), Lake Harvey (ISRO), Lake Richie (ISRO), and Sargent Lake (ISRO). **Table 11.**Mean and standard deviations of lake water-quality data collected at Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National
Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore, 2012–13.

[µg/L, microgram per liter; mg/L, milligram per liter; TN:TP, total nitrogen to total phosphorus; NA, not available]

Study lake		Total phosphorus (µg/L)	Total nitrogen (mg/L)	TN:TP	Chlorophyll <i>a</i> (µg/L)	Secchi-disk transparency (feet) Mean (standard deviation)					
	Year	Mean (standard deviation)	Mean (standard deviation)	Mean ¹ (standard deviation)	Mean (standard deviation)						
Isle Royale National Park											
Chickenbone Lake	2012	23.86 (6.71)	0.56 (0.04)	24.66 (6.19)	2.04 (0.41)	6.87 (0.18)					
Lake Desor	2012	11.19 (0.68)	0.59 (0.05)	53.06 (4.65)	4.14 (2.12)	6.92 (0.39)					
	2013	11.42 (2.42)	0.53 (0.01)	47.20 (8.77)	3.96 (1.03)	6.97 (1.17)					
Lake Harvey	2012	12.81 (1.26)	0.60 (0.02)	47.19 (4.60)	1.30 (0.11)	11.52 (0.42)					
	2013	14.57 (4.10)	0.53 (0.01)	38.06 (9.46)	1.35 (0.39)	11.07 (0.21)					
LeSage Lake	2012	14.67 (2.50)	0.61 (0.02)	42.21 (6.64)	2.40 (1.12)	5.85 (0.35)					
Lake Richie	2012	18.69 (4.40)	0.53 (0.03)	29.34 (4.84)	4.47 (3.82)	7.91 (0.36)					
	2013	20.03 (2.82)	0.53 (0.05)	27.03 (4.57)	5.01 (2.54)	8.05 (0.19)					
0 (11)	2012	16.04 (3.69)	0.49 (0.04)	31.39 (4.77)	1.36 (0.13)	9.73 (0.28)					
Sargent Lake	2013	16.15 (2.35)	0.44 (0.04)	27.73 (6.92)	1.66 (0.07)	9.79 (0.32)					
		F	rictured Rocks National I	akeshore							
Beaver Lake	2012	9.71 (2.66)	0.25 (0.07)	26.38 (1.98)	1.15 (0.30)	14.51 (1.03)					
	2013	13.99 (0.70)	0.28 (0.06)	20.09 (5.45)	2.22 (1.12)	12.30 (0.69)					
Grand Sable Lake	2012	9.25 (1.91)	0.31 (0.02)	34.61 (7.59)	2.26 (0.35)	10.87 (0.41)					
	2013	9.50 (0.80)	0.28 (0.03)	29.09 (2.21)	1.70 (0.33)	10.10 (0.60)					
Miners Lake	2012	16.60 (3.42)	0.44 (0.07)	27.77 (10.65)	3.00 (1.21)	7.00 (0.37)					
	2013	21.72 (8.41)	0.60 (0.10)	30.39 (11.42)	3.26 (4.43)	4.81 (0.41)					
Trappers Lake	² 2012	14.64 (1.10)	0.64 (0.51)	45.21 (37.90)	2.95 (1.89)	7.41 (0.67)					
	2013	11.19 (0.19)	0.87 (0.06)	77.98 (4.52)	2.18 (0.49)	6.89 (NA)					
		Slee	ping Bear Dunes Nation	al Lakeshore							
Bass Lake	2012	9.98 (3.68)	0.74 (0.07)	80.23 (24.04)	2.33 (0.88)	10.83 (0.84)					
	2013	9.12 (1.39)	0.66 (0.02)	73.70 (11.68)	1.18 (0.06)	10.17 (0.44)					
Florence Lake	2012	11.88 (1.22)	0.64 (0.04)	54.30 (5.37)	2.66 (0.91)	7.82 (0.22)					
	2013	12.31 (0.76)	0.65 (0.03)	53.18 (4.15)	2.19 (1.45)	10.58 (1.14)					
Loon Lake	2012	15.63 (12.26)	0.47 (0.32)	33.07 (12.37)	1.26 (0.49)	14.82 (1.91)					
	2013	11.04 (0.52)	0.35 (0.06)	31.48 (6.76)	1.33 (0.47)	16.57 (1.29)					
Lake Manitou	2012	12.10 (2.68)	0.53 (0.01)	45.01 (8.30)	1.83 (0.87)	9.90 (0.25)					
	2013	14.60 (1.40)	0.56 (0.03)	38.79 (2.38)	1.90 (0.52)	9.30 (0.09)					
North Bar Lake	2012	10.80 (3.47)	0.60 (0.06)	58.79 (14.82)	1.94 (1.11)	9.73 (0.76)					
	2013	12.03 (1.92)	0.48 (0.01)	40.38 (7.15)	2.06 (2.22)	8.49 (0.27)					
Shell Lake	2012	11.26 (0.85)	0.99 (0.07)	88.67 (10.13)	1.11 (0.32)	10.17 (0.49)					
	2013	15.49 (4.93)	0.91 (0.01)	62.58 (18.35)	1.35 (0.43)	9.41 (1.44)					

¹TN:TP ratio calculated based on daily TN:TP concentrations and then averaged by site for the year.

²Only two samples collected.



Figure 14. Nutrient, chlorophyll *a*, and Secchi disc indicator (x) comparison to percent microcystin detections (y) for 2012 and 2013 lake data at Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore.



Figure 15. Total nitrogen to total phosphorus ratios (y) versus microcystin concentrations (ELISA) (x) by lake at Isle Royale National Park, Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore, and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore.

Summary and Conclusions

Harmful blooms of cyanobacterial algae are of increasing concern in the United States because of the potential to produce toxins that can be harmful to humans and wildlife. Climate change and human activities that increase nutrient inputs into the environment (for example, agriculture, wastewater discharge, and stormwater runoff) may encourage algal growth and potential for toxin production. The U.S. Geological Survey and National Park Service led a 2-year study to assess the occurrence of cyanotoxins and to establish a baseline for any future monitoring at Isle Royale National Park (ISRO), Pictured Rocks National Lakeshore (PIRO), and Sleeping Bear Dunes National Lakeshore (SLBE) because of their importance as recreational areas.

The enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) method was used to screen cyanotoxin concentrations for total microcystin, saxitoxin, and cylindrospermopsin in water samples collected nearshore where human and animal contact and use were most likely. Saxitoxin and cylindrospermopsin were not detected in any samples collected in this study. Microcystins were detected in approximately 31 percent of samples, with greatest frequency at SLBE (57 percent in 2012). Maximum microcystin concentrations ranged from 0.88 microgram per liter (μ g/L) in 2013 to 2.7 μ g/L in 2012, but most samples (approximately 80 percent) were near or less than the minimum reporting level of 0.1 μ g/L.

Microcystin concentrations never exceeded the most protective recreational guideline recommended by the World Health Organization of 10 μ g/L. However, because backpacking and camping are common in the study areas, lakes possibly could be used as drinking-water sources. Only one sample (Florence Lake at SLBE) exceeded the 1.6 μ g/L U.S. Environmental Protection Agency drinking-water recommendation for school-age children through adults (6-years old and older), but 10 percent of samples (n = 211) exceeded the 0.3 μ g/L guidance for children preschool age and younger (less than 6-years old). The majority of the samples that exceeded the preschool age and younger recommendations were collected from SLBE inland lakes in 2012. Trappers Lake (PIRO) and Florence Lake (SLBE) were the only sites in which the 0.3 μ g/L guidance was exceeded in 2012.

The presence of microcystins was lake specific. Within a single lake on the same date, microcystin concentrations were fairly consistent; however, when concentrations of microcystin among lakes within a national park or national lakeshore were compared, the presence and concentration of microcystin could be quite variable on a given date, particularly at ISRO and SLBE. The majority of detections and higher concentrations of microcystin were on inland lakes in SLBE, potentially because as a result of increased nitrogen concentrations at those lakes or because of higher ratios of total nitrogen (TN) to total phosphorus (TP). Although within-season sampling is limited, results indicated a seasonal temporal change toward higher microcystin concentrations and frequency of detection later in the summer.

Visible blooms were not commonly noted during this study; however, when blooms were noted, microcystin concentrations were generally less than or near the minimum reporting level. Cyanotoxins are produced only by certain cyanobacteria and only under certain conditions. The factors that control cyanotoxin production are not fully understood and also are complicated by movement of the algal bloom or cyanotoxins in the water column and across the lake. This study determined that low level microcystin concentrations could be detected at many of the inland lakes even when blooms were not visible. Further studies would be needed to understand the source and environmental factors controlling toxin presence at these lakes.

Nutrient concentrations are one of the major drivers of algal blooms and cyanotoxin production. The TP concentrations were, on average, highest at the ISRO lakes, whereas TN concentrations were highest at SLBE. Results indicated a positive correlation overall when comparing TN to the percentage of microcystin detections for all the sites. However, results did not indicate a significant correlation between water transparency, TP, or chlorophyll a and the percentage of microcystin detections. The ratios of TN:TP were generally high and ranged from 20 to 89. The majority of the TN:TP ratios observed in this study are higher than the significant ranges identified in previous studies. Results indicated a slight increase in the percentage of microcystin detections with higher TN:TP ratios. Trappers Lake (PIRO) and Florence Lake (SLBE) had some of the highest cyanotoxin concentrations as well as the some of the highest TN:TP ratios, contrary to previously published literature.

References Cited

- Abraxis, Inc., 2017, Microcystin-ADDA ELISA (microtiter plate): accessed April 18, 2017, at http://www.abraxiskits. com/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Microcystins-ADDA-520011-Insert.pdf.
- Adrian, Rita, O'Reilly, C.M., Zagarese, Horacio, Baines, S.B., Hessen, D.O., Keller, Wendel, Livingstone D.M., Sommaruga, Ruben, Straile, Dietmar, Van Donk, Ellen, Weyhenmeyer, G.A., and Winder, Monika, 2009, Lakes as sentinels of climate change: Limnology and Oceanography, v. 54, p. 2283–2297.
- Beaver, J.R., Manis, E.E., Loftin, K.A., Graham, J.L., Pollard, A.I, and Mitchell, R.M., 2014, Land use patterns, ecoregion, and microcystin relationships in U.S. lakes and reservoirs—A preliminary evaluation: Harmful Algae, v. 36, p. 57–62.
- Breck, J.E., 2004, Compilation of databases on Michigan lakes: State of Michigan Department of Natural Resources, Fisheries Division Technical Report 2004–2.

Bruno, Milena, Barbini, D.A., Pierdominici, Elio, Serse, A.P., and Ioppolo, Alfredo, 1994, Anatoxin-a and a previously unknown toxin in *Anabaena planctonica* from blooms found in Lake Mulargia (Italy): Toxicon, v. 32, no. 3, p. 369–373.

Chorus, Ingrid, and Bartram, Jamie, eds., 1999, Toxic cyanobacteria in water—A guide to their public health consequences, monitoring and management: London, World Health Organization, 416 p., accessed April 18, 2017, at http://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/resourcesquality/toxcyanobacteria.pdf.

Downing, J.A., Watson, S.B., and McCauley, Edward, 2001, Predicting cyanobacteria dominance in lakes: Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, v. 58, no. 10, p. 1905–1908.

Drake, J.L., Carpenter, E.J., Cousins, Mary, Nelson, K.L., Guido-Zarate, Alejandro, and Loftin, Keith, 2010, Effects of light and nutrients on seasonal phytoplankton succession in a temperate eutrophic coastal lagoon: Hydrobiologia, v. 654, p. 177–192.

Elias, J.E., Axler, Richard, Ruzycki, Elaine, and VanderMeulen, David, 2015, Water quality monitoring protocol for inland lakes—Great Lakes Inventory and Monitoring Network (ver. 1.1): Fort Collins, Colo., National Park Service, Natural Resource Report NPS/GLKN/NRR–2015/1027.

Fischer, W.J., Garthwaite, Ian, Miles, C.O., Ross, K.M., Aggen, J.B., Chamberlin, A.R., Towers, N.R., and Dietrich, D.R., 2001, Congener-independent immunoassay for microcystins and nodularins: Environmental Science and Technology, v. 35, p. 4849–4856.

Fry, J.A., Xian, G.Z., Jin, Suming, Dewitz, J.A., Homer, C.G., Yang, Limin, Barnes, C.A., Herold, N.D, and Wickham, J.D., 2011, Completion of the 2006 National Land Cover Database for the conterminous United States: Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing, v. 77, no. 9, p. 858–864.

Glibert, P.M., Anderson, D.M., Gentien, Patrick, Granéli, Edna, and Sellner, K.G., 2005, The global, complex phenomena of harmful algal blooms: Oceanography, v. 18, no. 2, p. 136–147, accessed March 22, 2017, at https://dx.doi. org/10.5670/oceanog.2005.49.

Graham, J.L., and Jones, J.R., 2009, Microcystin in Missouri reservoirs: Lake and Reservoir Management, v. 25, no. 3, p. 253–263.

Graham, J.L., Jones, J.R., and Jones, S.B., 2006, Microcystin in Midwestern lakes: LakeLine, v. 26, no. 2, p. 32–35. Graham, J.L., Loftin, K.A., and Kamman, Neil, 2009, Monitoring Recreational Freshwaters: LakeLine, v. 29, p. 18–24.

Graham, J.L., Loftin, K.A., Meyer, M.T., and Ziegler, A.C., 2010, Cyanotoxin mixtures and taste-and-odor compounds in cyanobacterial blooms from the Midwestern United States: Environmental Science & Technology, v. 44, no. 19, p. 7361–7368.

Graham, J.L., Loftin, K.A., Ziegler, A.C., and Meyer, M.T., 2008a, Guidelines for design and sampling for cyanobacterial toxin and taste-and-odor studies in lakes and reservoirs: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2008–5038, 39 p.

Graham, J.L., Loftin, K.A., Ziegler, A.C., and Meyer, M.T., 2008b, Cyanobacteria in lakes and reservoirs—Toxin and taste-and-odor sampling guidelines (ver. 1.0): U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations, book 9, chap. A7, section 7.5, accessed March 22, 2017, at https://pubs.water.usgs.gov/twri9A/.

Harris, T.D., Wilhelm, F.M., Graham, J.L., and Loftin, K.A., 2014a, Experimental manipulation of TN:TP ratios suppress cyanobacterial biovolume and microcystin concentration in large-scale in situ mesocosms: Lake and Reservoir Management, v. 30, no. 1, p. 72–83.

Harris, T.D., Wilhelm, F.M., Graham, J.L., and Loftin, K.A., 2014b, Experimental additions of aluminum sulfate and ammonium nitrate to *in situ* mesocosms to reduce cyanobacterial biovolume and microcystin concentration: Lake and Reservoir Management, v. 30, no. 1, p. 84–93.

Helsel, D.R., and Hirsch, R.M., 2002, Statistical methods in water resources: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations, book 4, chap. A3, 522 p.

Lampert, Winfried, 1981, Inhibitory and toxic effects of blue-green algae on *Daphnia*: International Review of Hydrobiology, v. 66, no. 3, p. 285–298.

Lindon, Matt, and Heiskary, Steven, 2009, Blue-green algal toxin (microcystin) levels in Minnesota lakes: Lake and Reservoir Management, v. 25, no. 3, p. 240–252, accessed April 18, 2017, at https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/ abs/10.1080/07438140903032424.

Loftin, K.A., Meyer, M.T., Rubio, Fernando, Kamp, Lisa, Humphries, Edythe, and Whereat, Ed, 2008, Comparison of two cell lysis procedures for recovery of microcystins in water samples from Silver Lake in Dover, Delaware, with microcystin producing cyanobacterial accumulations: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2008–1341, 9 p.

44 Detection of Microcystin and Other Cyanotoxins in Lakes, Northern Michigan, 2012–13

- Loftin, K.A., Graham, J.L., Hilborn, E.D., Lehmann, S.C., Meyer, M.T., Dietze, J.E., and Griffith, C.B., 2016, Cyanotoxins in inland lakes of the United States—Occurrence and potential recreational health risks in the EPA National Lakes Assessment 2007: Harmful Algae, v. 56, p. 77–90.
- Magnusson, B., and Örnemark, U., eds., 2014, Eurachem Guide—The fitness for purpose of analytical methods—A laboratory guide to method validation and related topics, (2d ed.): Eurachem, 62 p., accessed November 14, 2017, at http://eurachem.org/images/stories/Guides/pdf/MV_ guide 2nd ed EN.pdf.
- McKay, Lucinda, Bondelid, Timothy, Dewald, Tommy, Johnston, Craig, Moore, Richard, and Rea, Alan, 2014, NHDPlus version 2—User guide (data model version 2.1): U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 172 p., accessed September 15, 2017, at https://nctc.fws.gov/courses/references/tutorials/geospatial/CSP7306/Readings/NHDPlusV2_ User_Guide.pdf.
- MERHAB–LGL, 2017, Toxins: Syracuse, N.Y., State University of New York College of Environmental Science and Forestry, accessed March 30, 2017, at http://www.esf.edu/merhab/toxins.htm.
- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, 2017, Great Lakes water life photo gallery—blue-green algae cyanophyta—*Lyngbya* spp: Ann Arbor, Mich., Great Lakes Sea Grant Extension Office, Great Lakes Environmental Research Laboratory, accessed April 18, 2017, at www. glerl.noaa.gov/seagrant/GLWL/Algae/Cyanophyta/Cards/ Lyngbya.html.
- National Park Service, 2006, National Park System Boundary Dataset: Data.gov website accessed April 18, 2017, at https://catalog.data.gov/dataset/national-park-systemboundary-dataset.
- National Park Service, 2016, Visitor use statistics: National Park Service website, accessed April 11, 2017, at https://irma.nps.gov/Stats/.
- Nizan, Shulamit, Dimentman, Chanan, and Shilo, Moshe, 1986, Acute toxic effects of the cyanobacterium *Microcystis aeruginosa* on *Daphnia magna*: Limnology and Oceanography, v. 31, no. 3, p. 497–502.

Orihel, D.M., Bird, D.F., Brylinksy, Michael, Chen, Huirong, Donald, D.B., Huang, D.Y., Giani, Alessandra, Kinniburgh, David, Kling, Hedy, Kotak, B.G., Leavitt, P.R., Nielsen, C.C., Reedyk, Sharon, Rooney, R.C., Watson, S.B., Zurawell, R.W., and Vinebrooke, R.D., 2012, High microcystin concentrations occur only at low nitrogen-to-phosphorus ratios in nutrient-rich Canadian lakes: Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, v. 69, no. 9, p. 1457–1462. Scott, J.T., McCarthy, M.J., Otten, T.G., Steffen, M.M., Baker, B.C., Grantz, E.M., Wilhelm, S.W., and Paerl, H.W., 2013, Comment—An alternative interpretation of the relationship between TN:TP and microcystins in Canadian lakes: Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, v. 70, no. 8, p. 1265–1268, accessed September 18, 2017, at www.nrcresearchpress.com/doi/abs/10.1139/cjfas-2012-0490.

- Sivonen, Kaarina, 1996, Cyanobacterial toxins and toxin production: Phycologia, v. 35, no. 6S, p. 12–24.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2009, National lakes assessment—A collaborative survey of the Nation's lakes: Washington, D.C., U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water and Office of Research and Development, EPA 841R–09–001.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2015a, CyanoHABs: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency website, accessed March 22, 2017, at http://www.epa.gov/nutrient-policy-data/ cyanohabs.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2015b, Drinking water health advisory for the cyanobacterial microcystin toxins: Washington, D.C., U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, EPA–820R15100.
- U.S. Geological Survey, 2014, USGS Circular 1350— Nutrients in the Nation's streams and groundwater— Frequently asked questions: National Water-Quality Assessment (NAWQA) Program website, accessed February 4, 2015, at https://water.usgs.gov/nawqa/nutrients/ pubs/circ1350/faq.html.
- U.S. Geological Survey, 2017, National Water Information System—Water-quality samples for Michigan website: accessed September 18, 2017, at https://nwis.waterdata. usgs.gov/mi/nwis/qw.
- World Health Organization, 2003a, Guidelines for safe recreational water environment, volume 1—Coastal and fresh waters: Geneva, World Health Organization, 253 p., accessed April 18, 2017, at http://www.who.int/water_sanitation health/publications/srwe1/en/.
- World Health Organization, 2003b, Cyanobacterial toxins— Microcystin-LR in drinking-water: accessed April 18, 2017, at http://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/dwq/chemicals/cyanobactoxins.pdf.
- Yoo, R.S., Carmichael, W.W., Hoehn, R.C., and Hrudey, S.E., 1995, Cyanobacterial (blue-green algal) toxins—A resource guide: Denver, Colo., American Water Works Association Research Foundation, 229 p.

For more information about this publication, contact Director, Upper Midwest Water Science Center U.S. Geological Survey 6520 Mercantile Way Suite 5 Lansing, MI 48911

Publishing support provided by the Madison and Rolla Publishing Service Centers.

USGS